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Co-operative Housing Ireland (CHI) is an Approved Housing Body providing over 

4,500 high quality homes to low-income households. As a representative body, 

CHI champions co-operative principles in delivering homes and supporting 

communities. Co-operative Housing Ireland has been a leader in providing truly 

affordable homes across Ireland since 1973. 

CHI was formed under the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts (Reg. No. 3174R) and is a registered 
charity (RCN 20012182). As an Approved Housing Body (AHB) it is regulated by the Approved Housing 
Bodies Regulatory Authority (AHBRA).

Co-operative Housing Ireland works closely with various stakeholders in the housing sector, including 
Local Authorities, Government, and developers, to provide high quality social-rented homes across 
the country. In addition to the 4,500 homes provided, CHI has supported owner-occupier housing  
co-operatives to deliver 3,000 affordable homes.

About us

Our Mission
Our mission is to lead the 
development of social, economic and 
environmental sustainability in Ireland 
through co-operative effort and the 
provision of co-operative housing in 
particular.

What we do

Our Vision
Our vision is of an Ireland where 
everyone has the option to participate 
fully in their own and the wider 
community’s social, economic and 
environmental development through 
co-operation.

* Cover image: Amanda Shannon at the launch of Móineir, Ros Leamhain, Co. Clare.
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Co-operative
identity, values
and principles

1. Voluntary and Open Membership 

Co-operatives are voluntary 

organisations, open to all persons 

able to use their services and 

willing to accept the responsibilities 

of membership, without gender, 

social, racial, political or religious 

discrimination. 

2. Democratic Member Control 

Co-operatives are democratic 

organisations controlled by their 

members, who actively participate 

in setting their policies and making 

decisions. Men and women serving 

as elected representatives are 

accountable to the membership. In 

primary co-operatives, members have 

equal voting rights (one member, one 

vote) and co-operatives at other levels 

are also organised in a democratic 

manner. 

3. Member Economic Participation 

Members allocate surpluses for any or 

all of the following purposes:

• developing their co-operative, 

possibly by setting up reserves, part 

of which at least would be indivisible;

• benefiting members in proportion 

to their transactions with the co-

operative;

• and supporting other activities 

approved by the membership.

4. Autonomy and Independence 

Co-operatives are autonomous, self-

help organisations controlled by their 

members. If they enter into agreements 

with other organisations, including 

governments, or raise capital from 

external sources, they do so on terms 

that ensure democratic control by their 

members and maintain their 

co-operative autonomy.

5. Education, Training and Information 

Co-operatives provide education and 

training for their members, elected 

representatives, managers, and 

employees so they can contribute 

effectively to the development of their 

co-operatives. They inform the general 

public – particularly young people and 

opinion leaders – about the nature and 

benefits of co-operation. 

6. Co-operation among Co-operatives 

Co-operatives serve their members 

most effectively and strengthen the 

co-operative movement by working 

together through local, national, 

regional and international structures. 

7. Concern for Community 

Co-operatives work for the sustainable 

development of their communities 

through policies approved by their 

members. 

Definition
A Co-operative is an autonomous association of persons united voluntarily to meet their common economic, social, and 

cultural needs and aspirations through a jointly-owned and democratically-controlled enterprise. 

Values
Co-operatives are based on the values of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity and solidarity. In the 

tradition of their founders, Co-operative members believe in the ethical values of honesty, openness, social responsibility 

and caring for others.
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1973

Timeline of achievements 

1973 – Foundation
Co-operative Housing Ireland (CHI), 
formerly NABCo, was formed in 1973 to 
support the growing housing  
co-operative movement that emerged in 
the late 1960s and 1970s. 
  
A typical co-operative housing scheme 
during this period focused on home 
ownership, and involved between 
8-20 homes, although in a few cases, 
between 130-150 homes were built by 
local co-ops over a number of years.

1979 – Irish Co-ops - the  
‘Third Arm’ of Housing
By the late 1970s, Irish housing co-operatives were catering to about 
5% of the Irish housing market and were hailed as the ‘Third Arm’ of 
Irish housing, alongside local authorities and private developers.

CHI established a full-time staffed office in 1979 to provide information 
and guidance on a wider scale. 
In that same year the new Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
allowed the Department of the Environment to pay a grant-in-aid to CHI 
as the representative body for housing co-operatives.

The Department of Local Government encouraged local authorities to 
assist co-operative housing by allocating building sites, liaising with  
co-operatives, and assisting promptly with applications for mortgages.

1980s – Working with organisations  
within housing provision
From 1979 and throughout the 1980s, CHI worked with other organisations involved 
in housing provision or those that were widening the scope of housing services. 
 In the 1980s, CHI’s focus shifted from private home-ownership to social-rented  
co-operatives.

This shift was largely as a result of a review of housing policy (Report No. 87) which 
recommended the recognition of the role of housing co-operatives in the provision 
of social-rented homes for low-income households. The review acknowledged that 
co-operatives have a distinct form of membership and organisational structure 
emphasising their potential for providing and managing housing with both  

ownership and rental forms of tenure.

1984 – 1990s Capital  
Assistance Scheme
In 1984, the Department of the Environment introduced 
the Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS). This allowed 
for grant transfers for financing mortgage loans to 
Approved Housing Bodies (AHBs) toward the cost of 
providing rental accommodation.

CAS led to CHI supporting Ireland’s first co-operative 
rental scheme, the 13-home ‘Greenlawns’ project in 
Coolock, with rents linked to household income rather 
than market rates.

The launch of the CAS scheme coincided with an 
increased focus by CHI on the provision of co-operative 
rental homes to new members allocated directly from 
local authority waiting lists.

A range of sites were provided by local authorities in 
Dublin for this purpose, leading to 276 houses and 
apartments at seven locations throughout the 1990s.

During the 1980s and 1990s, over 20 co-operative 
housing projects were completed by CHI. In 1991, a new 
Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme allowed advance loans 
to Approved Housing Bodies of up to 100%. This enabled 
the expansion of CHI in Swords, Parlickstown, Ballyogan, 
Clondalkin, Lucan, Balbriggan and Killinarden until the 
end of the 1990s.

1973 1979

1984-1990s1980
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Mixed Tenure
Newtown Court, developed in partnership with 
Dublin City Council, was the largest development 
in Ireland in 2004 with 193 apartments and duplex 
apartments. The homes comprise a mix of social 
rented and shared-equity ownership purchase 

dwellings.

Regional Development
CHI expanded its reach by delivering homes in 
Galway and Kildare initially, and then in Munster 
with housing being developed in Kerry and 
Waterford. To further this expansion, a new office 
was established, the staff of which helped to 
establish a foothold in the southern region.

Largest Social-Rented Housing 
Development in Ireland
In 2020, Co-operative Housing Ireland delivered the 
largest social-rented housing development in Ireland 
that year with 144 homes in Rathnew, Co. Wicklow. 
The organisation moved its HQ from Baggot Street 
to Warrington place. In that same year, CHI delivered  
a record number of 454 homes across Ireland.  
This growth marks a continuous trend, as from 2016, 
CHI’s delivery of homes has increased dramatically, 
from 194 to 592 in 2021.

2000s – 2010s Part V of the Planning 
and Development Act
In 2000, through Part V of the Planning and Development 
Act, CHI began working with private sector developers and 
completed an apartment block at Rockfield, Dundrum, and 
Cardy Rock, Balbriggan.

CHI continued to grow its foothold within Dublin throughout 
the 2000s and 2010s, the largest project of which was 
Avondale, a development of 200 dwellings completed in 2012.

Economic and Housing Crisis
2011 saw the withdrawal of the Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS), primarily as a response to the 2008 economic crisis. The 
majority of social-rented housing would no longer be funded through 
capital grants, AHBs and others would be expected to manage loans 
from both the Department of the Environment (now Housing) and 
from other sources (e.g. the Housing Finance Agency and banks).

CHI responded to this new reality by developing stronger 
relationships with the Department of Housing and key stakeholders  
in order to maintain and improve on its housing output.

2000

2004

2011 2020

2021

Housing for All
‘Housing for All’ - a New Housing Plan 
for Ireland’ is the government’s housing 
delivery strategy to 2030 which was 
launched in September 2021. This multi-
annual, multi-billion euro plan will improve 
Ireland’s housing system and deliver more 
homes of all types for people with different 
housing needs. ‘Housing for All’ points to 

a growing role for AHBs in housing delivery.
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463  
New homes 
delivered
in 2022
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2022 
at a Glance 
463
homes 
delivered

318
were 
houses

145
were 
apartments

52 Deep Energy Retrofits delivered

€153,565,035 loan funding
drawn down in 2022 for developments

12,562 people living in CHI homes

+ 2,414 since 2021  (+24%)
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2022 was a landmark year for housing in Ireland and for CHI as we welcomed our 4,000th 

family into their co-operative community. CHI has a near 50-year tradition of bringing the 

co-operative principles into housing delivery, through direct delivery as well as supporting 

an additional 3,000 homes through homeownership co-operatives. To strengthen this and 

the service we provide to households we appointed a new Head of Housing Services and 

Community Engagement and have expanded our member engagement team.

Despite the challenges presented by the global pandemic, social 
housing delivery reached its highest annual output in almost 
fifty years. This delivery fell against the backdrop of the ongoing 
Russia-Ukraine war, a global energy crisis, and a record-high 
inflation rate of 9.1% in July, comparable to the state’s all-time high 
inflation rate of 9.7%, reached nearly forty years ago in 1984.

Of the 10,263 social homes delivered in Ireland, 7,433 were new 
build, a 43% increase on 2021 figures. While the national new build 
delivery fell short of the 9,000 target, it was the highest number 
of new-build social homes delivered since 1975, just two years after 
CHI was founded. The remaining social homes were delivered 
through acquisition (960 second-hand) and leasing (1,870). 
Although targets for 2022 were not achieved, the year marked a 
step in the right direction for social housing output. 

In 2021, the organisation reached its highest yield to date of 592 
homes. This accounted for a 30% increase in delivery versus 
2020. CHI aimed for another record-breaking year in 2022, 
with a target of 700+ homes. Unfortunately, the impact of the 
economic uncertainty of 2022 resulted in uncontrollable delays in 
construction which limited our output to 463 homes. Delays with 
one large development of 160 homes had the most significant 
impact on our 2022 target for delivery, I am pleased to say that 
these have now been delivered.

While construction delays continued into the first quarter of 
2023, CHI is working towards the completion of more than 700 
homes in 2023, its 50th year as a housing provider, in support 
of the nation’s ‘Housing for All’ plan to deliver truly affordable 
homes. Under ‘Housing for All’ 90,000 new social homes are to 
be provided from now until 2030, and Approved Housing Bodies 
(AHB) will be central to this. This growth in output demonstrates 
the important role AHBs will play in social housing provision. 

The organisation was delighted to have been recognised for its 
work in the areas of social housing and sustainability during 2022. 
CHI was a finalist in the European Housing Awards in Helsinki for 
its work in providing housing for Syrian refugees. CHI’s ‘A Housing 
Body’s response to the Syrian Refugee crisis,’ was nominated 
under, ‘Going the extra mile in extraordinary circumstances’, 
a new category created for the 2022 Awards to recognise the 
critical response many housing organisations undertook during 
the pandemic. It is wonderful to have the work of colleagues 
recognised among our peers in Europe and beyond. 

CHI was also recognised for its ‘Improving Warmth and Wellbeing’ 
retrofit programme, which saw the retrofit of 52 homes in 2022. 
The programme won the ‘Retrofit/ Renovation Project of the 

year’ at the Irish Building and Design Awards (IBDAs). It was a 
tremendous success for the organisation, especially in a climate 
of record high energy prices, where annual electricity prices 
increased by 71.2% by the third quarter of 2022, gas increased by 
93.3% and home heating oil by 64.5%. It is important to us as a 
housing provider to ensure the longevity of our housing stock and 
the comfort and affordability for our Members across the country. 

These award-winning projects were delivered in tandem with 
a busy Member Engagement calendar, which included the 
production of CHI’s first mental health programme and resource 
for its Members. ‘It Takes a Village – Mental Health and Wellbeing’ 
programme targeted adults and young people in Carlow, Laois 
and Cork to increase their awareness of mental health related 
issues. Copies of the booklet were sent to all CHI households. 

What differentiates CHI from other housing providers is our co-
operative ethos. To strengthen and prompt this, CHI produced 
a ‘Member Association Toolkit,’ a how-to-guide, on setting up 
community committees. The toolkit introduces Members to the 
co-operative principles and values to support them in contributing 
to their community. We are very proud of our traditions and it is 
important that we nuture this.

CHI was delighted to unveil a novel piece of street art at our Island 
Key apartments. ‘The Spaceman’ was a highlight for Members 
and staff alike and was part of a targeted initiative for Members 
in Island Key, which saw participation among the community at 
every level of its conceptualisation and installation. 

CHI continues to grow year on year in the number of homes it 
provides and in how it works to improve services. 2022 also saw 
the organisation divesting two of its childcare services. It was not 
an easy decision for CHI to make but we truly believe that their 
future is now more secure under the management of a dedicated 
childcare provider. 

Throughout 2022, CHI delivered targeted support to Members 
and households on several key issues including board skills, fire 
safety training, community integration, and rent management. 
In this, our 50th year, CHI looks forward to building on these 
endeavours and successes into the future.

Message from the Chairperson

Pearse O’Shiel
Chairperson, Co-operative Housing Ireland
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The committee of management, (“the Board of 

Management ” or “the Board”), present their report 

and the audited financial statements for Co-operative 

Housing Ireland Society Limited (“Co-operative Housing 

Ireland”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Board Members’ 
Report
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Co-operative Housing Ireland

The Society was formed in 1973 under the Industrial 

and Provident Societies Acts (Reg. No. 3174R) and is 

the national organisation representing, promoting, and 

developing the co-operative housing movement in 

Ireland. The Society is jointly owned by its affiliated co-

operative housing member societies. It is a not-for-profit 

organisation whose objectives are charitable in nature 

and has charitable status (CHY 6522). The Society’s 

Registered Charity Number is 20012182. The Society 

is an Approved Housing Body (AHB) as regulated by 

the Approved Housing Bodies Regulatory Authority 

(AHBRA).

The Society, in addition to its national representative 

role, is actively involved in the organisation, 

planning and financing of new co-operative housing 

developments, the promotion of good governance in 

the management of co-operative housing societies and 

the delivery of quality housing and associated services 

for members and their communities.

Results and operational review for the year

The results for the year are in line with budgetary 

expectations. There was an operating surplus for the 

year of €17,729,596 (2021: €13,381,821) and a net surplus 

of €7,479,601 (2021: €5,934,559). The increase in both 

operating and net surplus arose due to the increase 

in income from housing growth and operational 

expenditure being in line with expectation. 

The main driver for the increase in income was the 

continued growth in social housing homes delivered by 

CHI. CHI acquired 463 units in 2022. 

The corresponding figure for 2021 was 592 units. 

An increase in operating surplus compared to 2021 

is primarily due to the increase in additional units 

delivered during the year and additional funding costs 

as a direct result of Co-operative Housing Ireland’s 

development activities. We acquired 463 (2021: 592) 

units in the year 2022. We maintained our high 

occupancy rate at 99.31% (2021: 96%) with rent loss due 

to voids at 0.75% or €97,366 (2021 0.54% or €57,039). 

Total housing stock at the end of 2022 amounted to 

4,338 units (2021 3,875 units). 

The growth in units resulted in increased Payment and 

Availability Agreement income to €27,266,281 (2021: 

€19,379,575) and Rental Income and other charges 

to tenants to €13,377,695 (2021: €10,916,906). These 

income streams are vital to the ongoing viability of 

CHI in funding the operational costs of CHI’s activities, 

housing stock and debt financing. The Government-

supported Payment and Availability Agreements are 

provided to CHI under contractual agreements with 

certain Local Authorities. Certain older originally grant 

funded properties are funded by a ‘differential’ income-

based rent, supplemented by a management and 

maintenance allowance from relevant Local Authorities. 

The management and maintenance allowance is flat 

lined at €647,957.

The beginning of recovery from the Covid 19 pandemic 

coincided with the impact of the invasion of Ukraine, 

this proved extremely challenging for operational costs 

in 2022, mainly due to high inflation rates, rising interest 

rates, continuing high uncertainty, and the energy crisis.

CHI expenditure increased to €32,725,873 in 2022 (2021: 

€25,993,504). 

CHI’s Childcare services saw the transfer of 

engagements during 2022 of the CHI facilities at St. 

Finians, Lucan and Brookview, Tallaght to StartBright 

Early Learning, another registered charity. CHI and 

StartBright worked co-operatively throughout the 

transition ensuring the services remained open and 

uninterrupted throughout the transition and supported 

the childcare teams transfer to StartBright.
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CHI’s strategy is reviewed annually, and a yearly Business Plan developed to 

support the operational implementation of the Strategy.

The CEO reports regularly to the Board on progress 

being made in achieving organizational objectives. 

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s leading role in 

housing delivery was reconfirmed during the year by 

recertification for lending from the Housing Finance 

Agency.

Our five-year strategic plan commits the organisation to 

making progress on five key goals. The current strategy 

covers the period 2021‑2025.

Some of our main achievements in 2022 in relation to 

each goal are outlined on the following page. 

Given the ongoing challenges faced by the construction 

industry, including supply chain issues and inflation, 

and labour shortages we believe that we have made 

significant progress realising these goals and that 2022 

was a very successful year for Co-operative Housing 

Ireland. CHI was re-certified for lending from the Housing 

Finance Agency. We continue to develop funding 

relationships and will continue to look at diversification 

of our funding sources.

Strategy  
Report

Cllr Clare Colleran Molloy, Pearse O’Shiel, Cllr Tony O’Brien, Claire Ryan, and 

Amanda Shannon at the launch of Móineir, Ros Leamhain, Co. Clare.
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Strategic Goals 2021–2025 Key Achievements 2022

• CHI delivered 463 homes in 2022

• At the end of 2022 CHI owns and manages 4,338 homes in addition to 
the 3,000 it supported through homeowner co-operatives

• CHI provided homes to 12,562 people by the end of 2022

• The majority of our new homes are sustainable BER A-rated homes

• A balance of larger and smaller developments has been delivered

• Prudent financial management and recertification for lending from the 
Housing Finance Agency 

• Introduction of a new database for managing development pipeline

• Production of a resource for CHI Members, ‘It Takes a Village – Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Toolkit’

• ‘Out of this world street art’ unveiled in Dublin, this was part of the rollout 
of a targeted initiative to bring colourful artworks to communities

• Additional funding sourced to support the “Improving Warmth and 
Wellbeing” CHI’s retrofit programme which will see 216 homes receive 
energy efficient upgrades

• Targeted support to households on a number of issues including: fire 
safety training, being a good neighbour, and paying rent

• CHI won the ‘Retrofitting/Renovation project of the year’ for the pilot 
of “Improving Warmth and Wellbeing” at the Irish Building and Design 
Awards 2022

• 11 Members took part in our Board Skills Training Programme 

• CHI established 12 Member Associations 

• The organisation made a submission to the public consultation on co-
operative legislation

• Reviewed CHI’s Rules which included amendments to continually 
improve how CHI functions as well as being informed by best practice

• Member Association Pilot Programmes took place in three locations

• New Head of Housing Services and Community Engagement (in 
January 2023 the title changed to Director) 

• New IT and Business Systems Manager joined September 2022

• CHI now operates in 22 counties

• Continual improvement in how CHI operates to meet needs and improve 
efficiencies 

• Rent arrears at 2.46% in December 2022

• Further growth in staff to 87 by December 2022, up 16% from 75 staff in 
January 2022 (excluding childcare)   

• European Responsible Housing Awards 2022 Finalist. CHI was shortlisted 
for its work on ‘A Housing Body’s response to the Syrian Refugee Crisis’, 
under, ‘Going the extra mile in extraordinary circumstances’ category

• Participated in national and international forums on co-operatives, 
housing and community issues including presenting at the International 
Social Housing Festival

• Supporting students from Belfast and Cork to become leaders in co-
operative housing

Goal 1 
Growing  
co-operative  
housing

Goal 2 
Building 
sustainable  
co-operative  
communities

Goal 3 
Developing  
co-operative  
leadership

Goal 4 
Raising our 
own capacity

Goal 5 
Leading the  
co-operative  
movement
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Leinster

88

Connacht

34

Munster  

341

463
homes 
delivered 
in 2022
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The last number of years have been a particularly 

challenging time for the housing sector. CHI aimed for 

another record-breaking year in 2022, with a target of 

700 homes. 2021 had been a landmark year for the 

organisation, with its highest housing yield to date 

of 592 homes. This accounted for a 30% increase in 

delivery versus 2020. The impact of uncontrollable 

delays in construction prevented CHI exceeding 

the success of 2021 and reaching its 2022 target, as 

the residual impact of the Covid-19 pandemic was 

surpassed by the war in Ukraine. 

Despite challenges presented by the pandemic, CHI’s 

housing output grew exponentially in the years that 

preceded 2022, with a delivery of 190 homes in 2017 to 

592 homes in 2021, and a 211% increase over a five-year 

period. The sustainability of quality housing stock for 

future generations will require a dedicated and steady 

contribution from organisations like CHI. Under Housing 

for All, 90,000 new social houses are to be provided 

from now until 2030, and AHBs will be central to this. 

This ramping up of output is testament to the important 

role AHBs must play in social housing provision. 

CHI is adapting to the difficulties presented by today’s 

building climate by seeking out larger schemes in a 

tighter pipeline. This enables CHI to consolidate its 

workload while keeping delivery high. CHI is focusing 

its delivery where it has a strong foothold, for example, 

where it has housing teams in operation and strong 

relationships with local authorities. The organisation 

promotes the continued expansion of the co-operative 

housing sector as a solution to housing need. 2022 

brought about CHI’s first iteration of an Asset and 

Liabilities Register and a new database system for 

managing its development pipeline. 

CHI is strongly influenced by its Members. Seven  

of its 12 Board members are elected by the Membership 

households that live in CHI homes. The inclusion of the 

Member voice at all levels ensures that CHI not only 

provides housing units, but homes where people  

can thrive.

Growing 
Co-operative Housing

Co-operative Housing Ireland delivered 463 homes during 2022. The largest 

delivery of homes was in Munster with 341 homes, followed by Leinster at 88 

homes, and Connacht with 34 homes. Homes were delivered across nine counties: 

Limerick, Cork, Clare, Kerry, Carlow, Wexford, Wicklow, Galway and Mayo. At the 

end of 2022, CHI managed over 4,300 homes nationwide with over 12,500 people 

calling a CHI dwelling ‘home’.

Homes  
delivered  
2017 - 2022

190
245 371

4542017
2018

2019 2020

592

2021

463

2022
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Leinster
Leinster accounted for 88 new homes, or 19% of CHI’s output for 2022.

These homes were provided primarily in the Southeast of the province, in estates and apartments 

delivered throughout Carlow (27), Wexford (13), and Wicklow (48).

Carlow

27
Homes

Wexford

13
Homes

88
Leinster

Homes  
delivered  
in 2022

Wicklow

48
Homes
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Kilruddery Glen, Southern Cross

Kilruddery Glen is one such development delivered in Leinster by CHI in 2022. CHI 

Member Kasha Byrne moved into Kilruddery Glen, Southern Cross, Wicklow in 

2022. By July 2022, over 30 families had moved into CHI homes in the estate. These 

homes were developed by Lioncor and their delivery was supported by Housing 

Finance Agency plc, The Housing Agency Ireland, Department of Housing, Local 

Government and Heritage, and Wicklow County Council.

Kasha spoke to CHI shortly after 
moving into her home about the 
impact having a forever home 
had on her and her family’s life.

Houses at Kilruddery Glen, Southern Cross Bray Co. Wicklow.
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We’ve been having a great time since the move. There are 

children playing on the road. The kids are exhausted by the 

time they want to come in.  The one thing I’m excited about 

here is the community aspect. Where we were before we 

were quite isolated. I especially want my son Max to grow 

up in a community, where they know that Max is Max, 

and we’ve had that. Max is non-verbal. The local kids have 

been asking questions about him. They’ve been asking 

how they can communicate with him, which is so nice 

to see. We really didn’t have that before, so the fact that 

there’s so much inclusion here is amazing. Everyone in the 

neighbourhood is so welcoming of Max and they do their 

best to include him. They had a football game recently 

where they lined up a ball for him to kick in the middle of 

the game. They’re making a proactive effort with him. 

We’re a busy community. People are coming together to 

get things done locally, we have community clean ups and 

even the children in the estate are involved. Kids knock 

into each other’s houses and there’s the feeling that it’s a 

good neighbourhood. There’s a Whatsapp group where 

community events and ideas are suggested.  

We’re trying to think of things that we could do this 

summer for everyone. Something like a BBQ was 

suggested, someone mentioned they were vegetarian, so 

we thought of ideas around that. Some neighbours are 

Muslim, and they were celebrating Ramadan, and they very 

thoughtfully shared information about the customs with the 

kids. It’s great to be learning from one another. We have all 

different types of neighbours here from every background. 

We’re planning on doing an outdoor cinema or Movie Drive 

too. One of the neighbours has a TV projector. We’re going 

to set something up on the grass for people to join and it’s 

a great way of encouraging the kids to keep the area clean, 

because they know they must have it nice for their movie 

night. There are very industrious kids in the estate. They 

made some money from selling ice-cream at the front of 

their house to run a disco for themselves across the way 

and they had a boom box playing music. They are going 

to sell sweets to make money for some future events too. 

When the other Members are moved into the apartments, 

we’re going to see about setting up a Member Association, 

we just want to ensure that everyone is involved from the 

get-go.”

“My name is Kasha and I live in Kilruddery Glen on the Southern Cross in Bray. It’s Housing 
Association properties, which is fantastic. Before here, we were living in a three-bed which 
didn’t meet our needs. We’re now living in a four-bed, which is fantastic. We have a lot more 
space, particularly in the living areas, which makes a huge difference when you have someone 
with special needs in the family. We’re still feeling like we’re in holiday mode at the minute but 
settling in quite nicely and getting to know all our neighbours. Everyone’s excited to be moving 
in. My family are settling in much better than I expected. I was worried about the transition!

“Everyone in the 
neighbourhood is so 
welcoming of Max  
and they do their best  
to include him.”
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Limerick

136
Homes

Kerry 

23
Homes

Clare

55
Homes

Cork

127
Homes

Munster
Munster accounted for 341 homes, or approximately 73.7% of CHI’s output 

 for 2022.

The majority of these homes were delivered in Limerick (136) and Cork (127) responding to the 

housing needs across those counties. Clare had the third highest number of homes delivered by 

the organisation in Munster (55) followed by Kerry (23).

341
Munster

Homes  
delivered  
in 2022
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CHI Member Amanda discusses life in her 

new home in Ros Leamhain, Co. Clare. 
“I’m a teacher, I did my training in England. When I moved 

back to Ireland, I had surgery, and I didn’t know it was 

going to happen – it was a spontaneous surgery. It took me 

a while to get back into teaching between health issues 

and then the government had changed in England which 

made it difficult for me to transition into teaching in Ireland 

because a lot of the frameworks I’d come through were 

different. 

When I got back into teaching, I was in a school in 

Connemara for three years. That was around the time 

Armand, my son, was ten years-of-age. I was living in Ennis 

and commuting to Connemara, and it was bonkers. There 

were days I could be in the car four hours. I was doing 

teacher training and I was teaching religious studies. 

I’m not working at the minute for health reasons. I had 

long Covid which developed into pneumonia. I was very 

tired with the pneumonia and didn’t realise I had it until 

my asthma doctor rang me, so I’d been unwell for several 

months beforehand. At the time I was unwell I was teaching 

part time in a comprehensive school and training Special 

Needs Assistants (SNAs) alongside that. I had to pull back 

on my hours because I became so sick and had chronic 

fatigue. Prior to taking on that work with SNAs, I had done a 

‘Train the Trainer’ course in Shannon which qualified me to 

train SNAs. I’ve recently gone for an interview with the ETB 

in Cahir in Limerick, and I got on the panel, so I’m waiting 

to see what work comes from that. I’m learning music now, 

that’s why there’s so many instruments here, I was taking 

keyboard lessons until I got sick. 

I have a vision for this place to make it a nice and relaxing 

home. I work by having a notebook, and I create a list of 

things I want to do and check them off. I’m a lot more on 

top of things than I would have been when I was younger. 

I’m going to put a desk in here to work at. I’ve already 

found one that fits, but my first thing to do is create calm in 

the space. I’m going to buy a media unit that has different 

shelves for books around it so I can store all my bits and 

pieces and display things. I found that you can buy it in 

pieces too, so I’ll get what I can when I can afford it. 

I’m going to paint in here a nice clean colour like white or 

grey, but something with a warm undertone to it instead 

of a cool one. Then for the stairs I’m not going with carpet 

but cladding which I’ll sand. I didn’t realise cladding was 

a thing until I went into one of the local hardware stores 

and saw it. I’m going to go with a stain for the wood and 

then a white for the banister. I’m lucky that my stepdad 

does painting and decorating, so he’s going to give me 

a hand with things when he has time. I’m happy not to 

have carpet in the house. Since I’ve moved in, I’ve hardly 

had to use my inhaler for my asthma except before I do 

exercise. That’s a huge change from where I was living. In 

my previous house, I’d go in the door, and I’d have to take 

my inhaler straight away. I was living in my last house about 

eight years and there were so many issues with damp 

and mould. It really took its toll on my health and my son’s 

health. When I was moving to this place my body went 

bonkers for a while. It was like it had had enough  

of the old place and knew it was time to leave.” 

Moíneir in  
Ros Leamhain,  
Co. Clare
CHI launched Moíneir in 

Ros Leamhain, Co. Clare in 

September 2022. Before the 

launch, we spoke to Amanda 

Shannon, a CHI Member and 

resident there about moving 

into her forever home.

– CHI Member Amanda 

“I have a vision for this place to make 
it a nice and relaxing home.”
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“I’m originally from Albania but I have been living in Ireland for over 20 years. I have a son who 

is fifteen and goes to school locally. He stays here three days a week. He loves computers and 

gaming. Before here, I was living in Tralee. It was an apartment above a pub and restaurant. It felt 

like I was living in a nightclub, it was so loud every weekend. I had been living there seven years 

since 2014. It was a small apartment with just a kitchen and bedroom essentially.

CHI rang me and I went to have a look at the home, to see 

how it was. I was delighted when I saw it, it’s a lovely house. 

I moved in two months ago. I have mostly got everything 

sorted, I have the flooring, I just have the kitchen left to do. 

Everything is more or less sorted; I just have a bit of tiling 

left.  

I am a trained chef and have been working in kitchens 

for 19 years. I had worked all over the county in different 

restaurants. I got quite sick a few years ago. I had severe 

asthma and a bad persistent cough. Then I stopped. Now, 

I work doing covid tests a few days a week. I hope to go 

back to being a chef when I’m feeling well. I miss my job. 

We’ll see.  

I’m most looking forward to settling down properly in my 

new home and having a nice space for my son, maybe 

returning to my job.”

Dún Álainn Listowel

CHI Member Brendan

Houses at Dún Álainn, Listowel, Co. Kerry
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“I’m most looking forward 
to settling down properly in 
my new home and having a 
nice space for my son” 

– CHI Member Ylver

22
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Connacht
Connacht accounted for 34 homes 

or approximately 7.3% of CHI’s 

output for 2022. 14 were delivered in 

Galway and 20 in Mayo.

The 20 homes delivered in Mayo are located in 

Humbert Close, Humbert Way, Castlebar. CHI’s Mayo 

output accounted for 22% of the social housing stock 

delivered in Co. Mayo in 2022. This delivery brought 

the number of CHI households in the county to 30.

Connacht

34
Homes

CHI was delighted to partner with Mayo 

County Council, the Department of 

Housing, and the Housing Finance Agency, 

with local builder Martin Moran in the 

delivery of Humbert Close. The estate has 

proximity to GMIT third-level college, Mayo 

County Council head office, the local fire 

brigade and Garda Barracks. The estate’s 

name owes to the history of the area in 

which General Humbert along with the 

United Irishmen defeated the Redcoats in 

1798 in a battle that has become known as 

The Races of Castlebar. 

We spoke to Miranda Kearney, a CHI 

Member and resident of Humbert Close 

about life in her new home.

CHI Director of New Business, Padraic Clancy, Cathaoirleach of Mayo  

County Council, Cllr Seamus Weir, CHI Member Miranda Kearney, and  

Leas-Cathaoirleach of Castlebar MD, Cllr Blackie Gavin at the launch  

of 20 homes in Humbert Close, Humbert Way, Castlebar.
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“I’m originally from Castlebar but went to school in Westport. After that, I went to 

college in Sligo. Then I moved to Galway where my brother was living. I moved 

back to Castlebar to save for a year and go travelling but I’ve stayed for seven years 

since! It’s nice, I have a lot of friends and support here. One of my brothers is in town, 

the other one is in Amsterdam, he has a son who’s a few months older than mine. 

They’re so cute together.

Jax, my son, is so good, he’s nine months and is so 

affectionate. I often potter around with him in the carrier. I 

work in a factory locally which makes stints and catheters. 

I did marketing in college, then worked in sales, but when 

I moved back, I wanted a complete change and a nine-to-

five. I’m back to work soon. 

I found out that we got our CHI home here a week before 

Christmas. I had so many questions! It wasn’t until last 

week that it felt real when I signed everything. It was the 

best news. Before we were between my family and my 

ex’s. I knew it wasn’t going to be forever though. I’m so 

happy there’s a bath here. I think I’ll keep the grey theme 

and get grey flooring and carpet. I just want to get the 

necessities and take it as it comes. 

I am most looking forward to having a safe and secure 

place, in particular knowing that this is Jax’s forever home 

and where all of his firsts will take place. It’s really exciting 

and such a relief knowing our home is secure. When we 

came to visit last week, he fell asleep straight away in the 

buggy and I knew he felt comfortable here. I’m so grateful, 

it’s just mad. It hasn’t fully sunk in; it probably won’t until I 

make my first cup of tea!”

“I am most looking 
forward to having a safe 
and secure place” 

 – CHI Member Miranda

101
Relets

in 2022

90Days
 Average  

Relet Time

CHI has an extremely high occupancy rate of 99.31% with rent 
loss due to voids at 0.75% or €97,366. There were 101 relets during 
2022 with the average relet time being 90 days. On average, 
properties were returned to a lettable condition in 52 days.  CHI 
is committed to reducing these timelines through improving our 
internal processes as well as working with Local Authorities.  24
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Supporting our Members 
2022 has seen continued growth for Co-operative Housing Ireland, 

despite challenges facing housing delivery. The last few years have been a 

particularly difficult time for the housing sector. The focus moved away from 

the impact of the pandemic to issues such as the cost of living crisis. The 

impact of uncontrollable delays in construction resulted in CHI missing its 

2022 target as the residual impact of the pandemic was surpassed by the 

war in Ukraine. Last year due to supply chain issues and inflation housing 

delivery was immensely challenging. Despite these obstacles, CHI delivered 

463 homes in 2022.

Communication with our Members
With so much focus on the delivery of new and much needed social housing, 

our early contact with our new Members, ahead of taking up occupation of 

their new homes was a key feature of our engagement throughout the year. 

This is a critically important phase of communication, establishing clarity 

on key roles and responsibilities for both tenants and CHI as the landlord. 

Communication was conducted via letters, messages, website posts, social 

media updates (Facebook and Twitter) and SMS text messaging. Our Member 

quarterly newsletter was produced and delivered by post to each household 

and sent in electric format via email. The Housing Team have relied on ICT to 

communicate with new and existing Members.

Service to our Members
The Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS) team became fully 

operational in 2022, with staff levels increasing from six persons in 2021 

to 16 by the close of 2022. Additional funding was sourced to support the 

“Improving Warmth and Wellbeing Programme”, which will see the retrofit 

of 216 homes, 52 of which were completed in 2022. A centralised national 

contact centre was established in AMPS to respond to repair requests. 

The goal is to continually improve the service making it more efficient and 

ensuring value for money is achieved.

Building  
Sustainable  
Co-operative 
Communities

CONTACT CENTRE STATS 
(JULY 2022 – DEC 2022):

4,546
Total Calls  
answered: 

97%
Answer  

Rate:

23
seconds

Average  
wait time:

19.5
Average daily 

calls per agent:

There was an enhanced focus on Member’s Fire Safety 
awareness with the production and circulation of a new 

Fire Safety Leaflet.  This included the roll out of Member 
Fire Safety Awareness Training at four Apartment Blocks in 
conjunction with our colleagues in Member Engagement.

CHI’s first physical Stock Condition Survey since Covid 
restrictions were lifted was successfully delivered, allowing 

surveyors to physically access and assess the standard of 
over 500 CHI homes.  This enabled AMPS to efficiently plan 

for future capital investment in our homes.

Repairs orders raised:  

5,429 
 (July – Dec 2022)

Spend on  
Responsive Repairs:  

€1.8m (Full year)

Planned/Capital Works:  

€2.4m  
of which €1.4m was  

on Deep Energy Retrofit

Life Safety Systems  
(Fire Alarms)  

Maintained & Serviced:  

116

Lifts Serviced:  

51
Radon  

Assessments:  

14 
with no remedial  
works required

Gas/Oil Boilers  
Serviced:  

1700+
Chimney  
Cleans:  

600+

REPAIRS STATS

FIRE AWARENESS AND  
MEMBER SAFETY

FUTUREPROOFING  
OUR STOCK
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Maintaining Sustainable Homes:
Improving Warmth and Wellbeing

27
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Properties were selected for retrofit by examining their 
energy rating and identifying the worst performing 
buildings in terms of energy performance. When 
retrofitting we prioritise the worst BER performing 
properties and bring them up to a BER B2 minimum. 
The first properties to be retrofitted in 2022 were South 
Earl Street and Sean MacDermott Street. In South Earl 
Street, some properties had a BER rating as low as E 
and were brought up to a B2. The result of this uplift is a 
massive increase in energy efficiency and reduction in 
the amount of heat loss that those buildings experience.  

Once the buildings with the lowest BER ratings were 
identified, we engaged Kingdom Installation Ltd as our 
project management team, who have been our partner 
throughout the ‘Improving Warmth and Wellbeing’ 
programme. They are mandated by SEAI as a One-Stop-
Shop for the delivery of retrofit projects. The first thing 
they do is verify the BER rating. Using software, they 
then model the energy performance improvement if 
they carry out certain works, for example, pumping the 
cavity with insulation, installing in a heat pump, putting 
in high output radiators, or insulating the attic. The goal 
is to select the most appropriate interventions required 
to achieve a BER B2 rating. In some instances, it might 
be a heat pump, in others it might suffice to increase the 
levels of insulation. The application of external insulation 
can be considered to ensure a BER B2. 

Once modelling is complete, an estimate cost for the 
works is determined. Generally, CHI fund 50% of the 
works and apply for funding from the SEAI to meet 
the remainder. Once funding is secured from SEAI, the 
project can be delivered. The final step for Kingdom is 

to carry out a post-work BER to confirm that they have 
achieved the B2 rating. It is only then, after the rating 
has been confirmed that we receive the rest of our 
funding.  

The main challenge facing Approved Housing Bodies 
(AHBs) is whether there is capacity in the Retrofit Sector 
to meet our demands and deliver retrofits at scale.  To 
date, most of the emphasis in the sector has been on 
the delivery of new high efficiency/NZEB homes and 
not on retrofits. In 2020, there were 500,000 retrofits 
required over the next 11 years to meet the national 
Climate Action Plan. The capacity of the sector to scale 
up to meet this demand will be critical.  

There are not many specialists in the market that focus 
on retrofits, that is where we lack capacity and where 
scaling up is difficult. That is coupled with the volatile 
market, Brexit, the war in Ukraine and the availability of 
raw materials. 

As an Approved Housing Body, our primary 
responsibility is to our Members, so the biggest benefit 
we get from retrofitting our houses is ensuring the 
warmth and well-being of people who live in our homes, 
which also benefits them in terms of reducing their cost 
of living.  

The second benefit from an asset management 
perspective is that we are futureproofing and protecting 
stock. We are protecting the asset from damp, water 
ingress, improving the structure and protecting our 
asset for the future. The benefits are twofold.”

“CHI committed to retrofitting 52 homes in 2022 under phase one of our Improving 
Warmth & wellbeing Project, at two locations in Dublin city centre. Over the course 
of three years we will complete 216 units as part of this project.  

CHI’s Director of Assets 
Management and  
Property Services  
David McCourt told us 
more about CHI’s 2022 
retrofit programme.
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Information and Familiarisation 
The Society continued to revise and deliver its programme 

of Information and Familiarisation for new Members 

to assist them in understanding co-operative housing 

and its place in the wider co-operative movement. 

Member feedback on these sessions is actively sought 

and analysed and used to inform future iterations of the 

programme.

Member Events and Activities
Our Member Engagement and Housing Services 

teams delivered a full year of high quality community 

engagement activities, highlights of which were the highly 

regarded ‘It Takes a Village’ project focusing on mental 

health and wellbeing, particularly among young people, 

which was shortlisted for a Chartered Institute of Housing 

Award. The well-received community art mural at Island 

Key in Dublin was a major highlight which demonstrated 

how effective community engagement activities can be 

in terms of connecting CHI with its Members. Fire safety 

awareness training and the establishment of a popular 

Facebook community group for CHI households were also 

key features of our engagement throughout the year.

Member Engagement Working Group
The Member Engagement Working Group is a group of 

Members from across the country who support delivery 

of national events for CHI Members. The group meets a 

maximum of six times a year. The group has an informal 

structure, which is a great way to meet other Members 

and have input on events and initiatives that are taking 

place on a national level.   

During 2022, the Member Engagement 
Working Group contributed to the following:

• Review of the newsletter

• Review of the website

• Writing a ‘Check in on your neighbour’  

article for the newsletter 

• Organising Bingo and Christmas karaoke  

on Zoom  

• Organising a Movie Night 

• Supported the development of the ‘It Takes a 

Village’ Mental Health and Wellbeing workshops 

and toolkit concept

• Running an Art Competition 

Each initiative had a national remit and impact.

Community  
Development
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The Member Engagement Team set up the group in 

2021. I was introduced to that team by Maria Butler who 

looks after Housing Services here in the Southeast. At 

that time, Anthony Burrowes was the only person who 

worked in Member Engagement, but the team has 

since expanded to four people. Joining the Member 

Engagement Group interested me straight away. I was 

heavily focused on activities for Members and the idea 

of doing something more for those who live in CHI 

homes. One of the great things about CHI is that you 

don’t get the keys of your door and that’s it, there are 

things that you can become involved in if you wish. 

I’m on the board of the Slaney Co-operative here in the 

Southeast, which represents the collective interests 

of Members in the area. When I joined the Member 

Engagement Group, I really liked the shared energy and 

enthusiasm to do something more for people. There’s 

great drive in the group and potential. We’ve run a lot 

of events from Bingo Nights to Sing-along socials. We 

did a movie night last summer where families joined us 

online to watch ‘Up!’, which was very enjoyable. I think 

running events can be a real benefit to people, as it’s a 

way for them to connect with others around the country 

when things are tough. We held a combined Bingo night 

and Sing-along social with Members before Christmas 

2022. Christmas can be a very stressful time for families 

as there’s a lot of planning involved and it’s quite costly, 

especially if you’ve a few young people in the house. 

Having the Bingo combined with the Sing-along social 

was a way for people to unwind and have fun and get 

into the festive spirit. There was no competitive element 

to it. It was purely for fun. I dressed up with Elton John 

glasses to be the Bingo caller. When people called 

‘check’ they were asked to sing a song to the group. It 

didn’t matter whether you could sing or not. 

The Member Engagement Group also came together 

to give feedback on CHI’s Member Newsletter last year, 

which was a great opportunity for us to have a say in 

how news and events are communicated to us across 

the country. We gave our insights and opinions, and it’s 

great to see Members themselves featured more heavily 

in the Newsletter. It gives the sense that people can 

share what they are interested in or what they are doing 

in their own communities and hopefully inspire other 

people to do something similar. 

I’m looking forward to the year ahead and seeing what 

other meaningful things can be achieved for Members. 

I think there are areas of communications to Members 

that we could improve on, but also in the types of 

opportunities that we put forward for Members. I think 

there’s a lot we could do in the education and training 

space, and in the area of childcare and health.  

The list goes on!”

“I live in Enniscorthy in Wexford, in a CHI home. I was a new Member to CHI when I 
joined the Member Engagement Group. The Member Engagement Group is a group 
of Members who come together to organise events and initiatives, and give input 
and feedback on issues that affect Members. It’s of benefit to Members and CHI as 
an organisation to get our opinions and implement them in a meaningful way.

“You don’t get the keys of your 
door and that’s it, there are 
things that you can become 
involved in if you wish.”

CHI spoke to Brendan 

Robinson from the 

Member Engagement 

Group about their 

work in 2022.
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CHI Book Club 
The book club is a community of Members from across 

the country. Every month, the book club meets on Zoom 

to discuss their chosen book. The person who suggested 

the selected book facilitates the book club’s discussion. In 

2022, the book club began their reading with ‘The Year of 

the Witching’. 

Co-operative Housing Ireland and Soar 
launch ‘It Takes a Village’ Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Toolkit in Carlow
CHI’s Member Engagement team worked with SOAR, a 

mental health organisation for young people and adults, 

to deliver ‘It Takes a Village’. It Takes a Village delivered 

four workshops, two in-person for young people, and two 

via Zoom for adults, to educate communities and raise 

awareness of mental health issues.  

The workshops focused on mental health, what it is, 

how we manage it and where we should go if things 

get difficult to deal with on our own.  The aim was to 

understand the needs of young people, recognise issues 

that have a deleterious effect on their mental wellness 

and to connect more fully into the feeling of what it is to 

be young. The programme was created and designed 

with the support of the Housing Finance Agency. The 

programme’s name was chosen to reflect the proverb ‘it 

takes a village to raise a child’.

It Takes a Village was well received by participants. On 

Thursday 3rd November 2022, CHI and Soar launched the 

‘It Takes a Village’ Mental Health and Wellbeing Toolkit  

at Saint Fiacc’s Hall, in Graiguecullen, Carlow. 

The Toolkit was created  

with young people and  

adults living in CHI homes  

in Carlow, Laois and  

Cork who took part in 

 the programme.

Representing, Promoting, Developing   Since 1973

31



Walk to Connect 
Over the summer months, CHI encouraged Members to 

get out and walk. The Member Engagement team and the 

‘Walking-to-Connect’ Members working group arranged 

three walks in Dublin, Kerry and Carlow. All Members 

were invited to attend. The walks were chosen for their 

accessibility for different abilities. The focus of the walks 

was to enjoy being in nature and get to know other CHI 

Members and Staff. People connected, shared mutual 

interests and built a stronger sense of community. 

The dates and locations of the walks were spread  

across late spring and Summer:  

28th May -  Howth Walk, Howth, Dublin

18th June  - Muckross Lake Loop, Killarney, Kerry

6th August  - Clashganny Forest Loop,  

  Clashganny, Carlow

Steps to Success Community 
Leadership Pilot Training in Cork 
The Steps to Success Community Leadership pilot 

training took place in June and was run in Blackrock GAA 

club in Cork. This training supported Members setting up 

Members Associations and was run over two consecutive 

evenings from 6‑8pm.  Members from three different 

CHI estates in Cork city joined the training.  Those in 

attendance engaged well in activities and discussions. 

Walk to Connect encouraged CHI staff and Members to get together in nature.
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Art Competition 
In the winter of 2022, we launched the 3rd Annual Art 

Competition. The theme was chosen by the Member 

Engagement Working Group, which was ‘When the light 

gets in’. It is great to see Members’ creative talents being 

showcased in the annual art competition. There was 

some incredible artwork sent in, and the decision process 

was very difficult! The two judges were Kate Morgan and 

Michaela Quinn, from CHI’s communications team, who 

have a keen eye on creativity and focused on the key 

theme.  

Below are the winners and runners 
up from each of the categories: 

4-10 years 
1st Place: Freya Murphy  

Runner up: Hannah St John  

11-16 years  

1st Place: Gabija Bielyte  

Runner up: Emma Thomas 

17-25 years  

1st place: Rachael Leonard  

Runner-up: Emma Rooney  

26+   

1st place: Geraldine Martin  

Runner-up: Sarah Hennessy  

Island Key 
Artwork Targeted 
Community Initiative
Over an eight-month period, the Member Engagement 

team, Housing Officer, Dara Sheehy, and Members in 

Island Key worked together on a project to make the area 

a brighter place for themselves and the young people 

in the community. Members worked collaboratively with 

street artist, Shane Sutton, to create a unique piece of 

street art. The Spaceman is the culmination of hours 

of consultation between the community in Island Key 

and Shane. The image was created in consultation with 

Members to inspire the young people in the community 

and evoke a sense of nostalgia. 

The Spaceman overlooks the apartments and was 

unveiled by the Members and Lord Mayor of Dublin, 

Caroline Conroy in September. Members gathered 

to unveil and celebrate together, many of whom had 

watched the artist painting from their balconies. There 

was an ice-cream van on the day and local baker Maria 

Hennessy made cupcakes for everyone who came along 

to enjoy. Young people from Island Key got together to 

draw pictures of space, aliens, and other intergalactic 

themes to be incorporated in AR Instagram filters, an idea 

of artist Shane Sutton’s to make the piece more interactive.  

Local Members, Riley and Annabell Campbell launched a 

toy rocket to mark the event. 

Gabija Bielyte’s painting which won 
in the 11-16 years category

The Lord Mayor of Dublin meets Members at the 
launch of ‘Spaceman’
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“It’s not only about 
painting a picture. It’s 
about invigorating 
people to come 
together”
Dara Sheehy, Housing Officer, discusses the Spaceman 

project at Island Key

“In 2022, we focused on getting the community together 

in creating the Spaceman street art at Island Key. We 

worked with the Member Engagement team to achieve 

this. We invited everyone at Island Key to meetings by 

sending letters and calling in face to face. The whole 

project was done in consultation with the Members there. 

The first few meetings didn’t have great attendance but 

the further we moved along in the process; the more 

people became interested in what we were trying to 

achieve for the community there. People moved to Island 

Key in 2009 and initially with a new community there’s 

great interest, but that can die down after some time, and 

it takes a lot for people to gain the same level of interest. 

We wanted people to take pride in their area and to 

celebrate that pride. There had been issues with anti-

social behaviour and that can really discourage people, 

they feel the need to retreat, and you can’t blame them 

for that. There was some bad publicity about Island Key, 

even though a lot of issues were caused by people from 

outside the apartments. Street art makes a statement, 

it shows the solidarity and sense of community that 

people in the estate have.  It was a big project because it’s 

not only about painting a picture. It’s about invigorating 

people to come together and that’s a longer piece of work 

that we want to continue.  It’s been months since it was 

completed and it hasn’t been touched, there’s no graffiti, 

it hasn’t been defaced in anyway. That says a lot. The 

community were involved in it and the kids were involved 

and the pride is evident.”

Artist Shane Sutton with the  
‘Spaceman’ at Island Key
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What do you do in your day-to-day life?
“I’m a student and a mother. I’m studying analytical 

chemistry full-time at TU Dublin Grangegorman. At the 

moment, I’m writing my thesis. I just finished the project 

in the lab last week, and we’ve been given two weeks to 

write the thesis. 

My thesis is on biocharcoal, it’s like charcoal. It can 

remove the pollution in wastewater, and the practical 

experiment went well. 

I am also a mother of three. My eldest son is fourteen 

years old, my second one is twelve and my third one 

is seven. I am a busy woman. I was meant to finish my 

studies in 2018 but due to personal reasons I had to 

take a break. I graduated then with a level 7 in Medicinal 

Chemistry. That was in 2018, and after three years I 

thought, ‘why not go back now?’ 

It’s difficult when you’re a mother, you know that 

commitment, it’s not easy. But I’m almost there. I’m 

finished in May. 

I’m also a volunteer with Refugee Ireland, we are helping 

refugees and asylum seekers find a job. So, I’m their 

executive recruitment manager sometimes, but at the 

moment I’m busy busy! I often help candidates with 

their interviews and their CVs, but at the moment I have 

to focus on my degree.

What makes you happy?
I spend my free time with my kids, cooking, baking, also 

going out getting some fresh air in the park, laughing 

with my kids, and socialising. I’m also involved with 

my community. I’m one of the leaders in learning 

with my community. Recently we made a video with 

the Ballyfermot-Chapelizod partnership to encourage 

people to go back to education, so I enjoyed taking part 

in this.

I also have a community clean up group that we set 

up in 2019. We had taken part in World Clean Up day; it 

was the first time it had happened in Ireland in 2018. A 

friend invited me that time and the Lord Mayor came in 

and we took photographs in the city centre. That was 

the first time the day was celebrated here and we were 

part of the project, which was very good, it makes me 

excited talking about it. 

When we moved to Cherry Orchard, everywhere had 

people dumping, so seeing as I had already been 

involved in community clean-up, I thought ‘why not 

do something here?’. My son was like ‘Yeah! Yeah! 

Why not?’ and my little one, at that time she was 

about 4 years old, she was like ‘Yes mammy!’ so we 

started an initiative. It’s great to be able to clean up the 

environment where I live. 

Anyone living in the area can join our clean-up group 

it’s called the Cherry Orchard Environmental Group you 

can find us on Facebook.”

Developing Co-operative 
Leadership

International Women’s Day 
As part of International Women’s Day 
celebrations 2022, CHI interviewed women  
leaders in their communities about what’s  
meaningful and important to them.

Mamy Nzema Nkoy, 
a CHI Member, spoke 
to us about her life.
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What do you do in your day-to-day life?
“I work full time with a Homeless organisation. I am very 

thankful for my job.

I really enjoy the work as it challenges me, and I 

feel I have developed positive new skills during the 

last 9 years. My job, along with my colleagues, is to 

offer advice and support to people who are at risk of 

becoming homeless. It involves collaborative work 

with other agencies in the Community to offer the best 

possible support to individuals and families. 

Covid-19 certainly added extra challenges for the folks 

we support and also in how we could support them. 

What makes you happy?
Travelling and volunteering have been my passions for 

many years. I have enjoyed great adventures and made 

lifelong friends through these experiences. I have been 

humbled to be able to spend time in communities in 

many parts of the world and understand their culture. 

My current and ongoing volunteering adventure is in 

South Dakota on a Native Indian Reservation-Lakota 

Sioux Tribe. I have been involved with the CRYP, a 

grassroots organisation there, that offers supports to 

youth and family on the reservation for the past 20 

years. Other cultures I have travelled to and volunteered 

in are Romania, Kosovo, UK, Chicago, Washington, West 

Virginia and many more. 

I have been so lucky to have had so many fabulous 

adventures and meet so many lovely people. I am 

hopeful of more adventures in the year ahead and 

beyond. I am by nature a very optimistic person. In spite 

of an extremely sad personal loss in the last 2 years, 

I am hopeful of reconnecting with friends home and 

abroad and to feel replenished as a result. 

My hope for this year would be to travel to South 

Dakota to see my friends and family and enjoy time in a 

community that feels like home. 

What a journey it has been...and what a journey it will be.

On this International Women’s Day the people of 

Ukraine are very much in my thoughts as they face a 

very uncertain future. “Strength doesn’t come from what 

you can do. It comes from overcoming the things you 

thought you couldn’t.”

 “Strength doesn’t come 
from what you can do. It 
comes from overcoming 
the things you thought 
you couldn’t.”

CHI Member Winifred Kelly spoke to us about her life  
as part of our International Women’s Day campaign.
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Board Skills Training   
Autumn Board Skills training took place during October 

and November. The board skills training equips Members 

to be ready and comfortable to sit on a board or committee 

in the future. The course provides information around 

communication, governance, finance, leadership and the 

co-operative structure. 11 Members participated in the  

Board Skills Training Programme.

Submission to the public consultation 
on co-operative legislation
In 2022, CHI took part in a public consultation on 

legislation that governs co-operative societies. CHI took 

the opportunity to make a detailed submission which 

highlighted where modernisation of the legislation was 

needed and where there were unnecessary burdens on our 

member co-operatives. Reform of the legislation, which was 

largely unchanged in 130 years, will make it easier to set up 

a co-operative and should give a renewed interest  

in co-operatives. 

Member Associations  
The Member Engagement team worked with communities 

across the country to set up 12 member associations 

throughout 2022. The ease of Covid-19 restrictions saw 

a growth in interest in running events and activities. 

Member Associations or resident groups are beneficial to 

communities for several reasons. 

They help Members to: 

• Create a sense of belonging within the community  

• Run events and activities that benefit the  

community as a whole 

• Share advice and information with other people  

in the community  

• Campaign on issues that relate to all the members  

in the community  

Co-operative Housing Ireland believes in creating 

flourishing and sustainable communities and provides 

community funds for people who have set up member 

associations.  Once a community sets up their Member 

Association, they can apply for a community fund directly 

from CHI. This is the equivalent to €12 per home in the 

estate or community.  

Childcare 
CHI announced an ownership change of its childcare 

services in September 2022. StartBright Early Learning 

Centres took over Co-operative Housing Ireland’s (CHI) 

Brookview and St Finian’s childcare services, meaning 

CHI will no longer be responsible for the provision of 

childcare at the two services but will continue to manage 

its childcare service at Island Key. CHI and StartBright 

worked co-operatively throughout the transition 

ensuring the services remained open and uninterrupted 

throughout the change in ownership.

Co-operative Housing Ireland would like to sincerely 

thank its former childcare staff for their hard work 

and dedication over the years. The childcare teams in 

Brookview and St Finian’s have cared for children living 

in CHI communities and beyond for more than 20 years, 

it is a credit to you all and CHI is so grateful for your 

commitment.

StartBright are a non-profit childcare and early learning 

provider. StartBright was founded over 11 years ago and 

is a registered charity that currently provides quality 

early years education and afterschool services to over 

300 children across Clondalkin, Lucan & Tallaght. The 

organisation has over 50 staff and its services are 

delivered in safe, supportive and creative environments. 

Welcoming Brookview and St Finian’s to the Start Bright 

Family sees StartBright services grow to seven centres, 

providing services to over 450 children and employing 

over 70 staff.

2022 Information

General

Throughout 2022, there was continued media coverage 

of childcare subsidies and the new core funding model 

and access to childcare for all remained central to the 

current government discussions on the cost-of-living crisis. 

Island Key continues to access any available information 

on these issues and remains dedicated to addressing any 

inequalities or inaccessibility issues within our service.

Island Key increased the numbers in our Early Years and 

School-Aged Childcare programmes and at the end of 

2022, we had approval for the registration of 89 children. 

Parallel to this success, Island Key reached maximum 

capacity for registrations in 2022.
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Island Key participated in the Aistear and Play CPD 

in 2022. This continuous professional development 

programme was established to provide support to 

services to ensure the implementation of the two National 

Frameworks - Aistear and Siolta.

There was a significant reinvestment of funding for 

Island Key in 2022, we refurbished two SAC (School Age 

Childcare) premises and the refurbishment has been 

welcomed by the children, staff, and parents alike. We also 

installed external awnings to allow increased outdoor play 

during inclement weather.

Staff

We completed our Core Funding Quality Action Plan for 

2022 – 2023, all staff remained focused on two elements 

of our action plan:

1. Better Start Quality Development Service – this includes 

developing Parent Partnerships exploring the current 

learning environment, creating, and initialising a long-term 

innovative and creative curriculum plan for our Early Years 

programmes and undertaking extensive planning and 

assessing using Aistear’s themes.

2. National Síolta Aistear Initiative (NSAI) – engaging in this 

project via attendance at Síolta, Aistear and the Practice 

Guide workshop and Aistear and Play CPD.

Our service was continually impacted by Covid-19 cases 

during 2022, we managed these cases with the minimum 

impact on our service provision.

Island Key ensured ongoing compliance in relation to staff 

training, garda vetting, TUSLA and POBAL guidelines, the 

on-site inspections from all funding agencies have begun 

again, with all staff well prepared.

Partnerships

Island Key focused on the roll out of partnership 

programmes for both their Early Years and School-Aged 

Childcare programmes. Throughout 2022, we increased 

our work with the ELI programme and have facilitated 

a Numeracy programme for the early years and both 

the Rummikub and Coding clubs for the school-aged 

childcare, all of which were extremely well received. Island 

Key also strengthened our co-operative working in the 

area with Better Start and the National College of Ireland.
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Funding/Regulatory Information

In early February, the Minister announced the new 

Childcare Core Funding Model for Childcare from 

September 2022, Island Key were allocated funding based 

on our capacity and the qualifications of those working in 

the service.

In August 2022, Minister Damien English announced a 

most-welcome Employment Regulation Order which saw 

minimum pay rates for childcare sector staff increasing. 

These changes took effect from 15 September 2022 with 

new minimum hourly rates of pay for various roles outlined 

by the ERO.

In September 2022, Roderic O’ Gorman, T.D., Minister 

for Children, Equality, Disability, Integration and Youth, 

announced a €10m Capital Grant for the Early Learning 

and Childcare Sector.  

The ‘Building Blocks Improvement Grant’ is part of a wider 

Building Blocks Capital Programme for Early Learning and 

Childcare under the National Development Plan. We were 

successful in our application to reimagine and upgrade our 

kitchen and sanitation spaces in Island Key amounting to 

circa €40k. 

Budget 2022 brought about some additional childcare 

funding for parents via the National Childcare Scheme. 

These changes are due for implementation in January 

2023. There will be an increase to the minimum hourly 

subsidy rate for the National Childcare Scheme universal 

applications, and some increases to the hourly subsidy 

rates for the National Childcare Scheme Income Assessed 

applications. 
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Raising Our Capacity

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s ambitious plans for 

growth in housing delivery and services to Members 

required a necessary growth in the organisation’s 

team and their professional development. At the end 

of 2022, CHI operated across 22 counties and the 

number of people working for CHI, across all areas of 

the organisation, increased to 87. New joiners included a 

Head of Housing Services and Community Engagement 

and an IT and Business Systems Manager.

Environment 

CHI has a proactive approach to assisting all personnel 

in conducting the Society’s business in a manner that 

protects the environment, our Members and employees. 

It is compliant with relevant environmental legislation. 

The Society is currently involved in energy retrofitting 

in some co-operative developments as part of its 

‘Improving Warmth and Wellbeing’ programme through 

innovative partnerships with national and international 

agencies. CHI encourages efficient use of energy, utilities 

and natural resources in all our offices and communities. 

Suppliers are paid by electronic means to reduce paper 

wastage and we avail of schemes such as toner cartridge 

and drum recycling.

Health and Safety 

The wellbeing of CHI employees is safeguarded through 

strict adherence to health and safety standards. The 

Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005 imposes 

certain requirements on employers and the Society has 

taken the necessary action to ensure compliance with 

the Act, including the adoption of safety statements for 

our buildings. 

CHI has a comprehensive Health and Safety Statement. 

Health and Safety training for staff is ongoing with 

training in first aid delivered to staff during the year as 

well as training for Building Officers in areas appropriate 

to their trades. A Health and Safety Committee 

comprising of staff from across the organisation at all 

grades meets regularly to discuss the promotion of good 

Health and Safety practice.

Returning to Work

The Government announced the end of most Covid-19 

restrictions from 22nd January 2022.  The Government 

issued guidance on the return to pre-Covid measures 

in its Transition Protocol for Covid-19.  CHI planned its 

return to offices starting from the end of April on a 

phased basis, working with Lead Worker Representatives 

from each department to ensure that all the appropriate 

protocols continued to be applied. Perspex screens 

remained installed, facemasks and other PPE were 

available in offices, and staff were recommended to 

maintain social distancing and sanitise hands often. HEPA 

filters were installed in offices as were air conditioning 

units where possible or as standalone installations. Staff 

were encouraged to take antigen tests twice during the 

working week and to remain at home if they had any 

symptoms. 

CHI offices and teams vary, however, the following 
gives a broad overview:

• Housing Services: comprising area housing managers 
and housing specialists, housing officers, technical 
managers, technical officers, repairs operatives and 
caretakers who are dedicated to maintaining the 
relationship with our Members and the quality of our 
housing

• Contact Centre: ensuring excellence in customer 
service for our Members

• New Business: increasing housing provision by 
creating new opportunities in collaboration with 
external partners across the country 

• Childcare: providing for childcare needs in one 
location 

• Head Office: including senior management, finance, 
and corporate services

CHI carried out its bi-annual survey later in the year, 
asking all households about their perceptions of the 
range of services delivered by CHI.

42
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The Awards were held in Helsinki, Finland, on 16th 

June, during the International Social Housing Festival 

which took place 14‑17 June 2022. The beautiful Helsinki 

Central Library Oodi, was an inspiring venue for the 

event. The state-of-the-art library was built to mark the 

100th anniversary of Finland’s independence. Those in 

attendance from CHI were CHI Vice-Chairperson Enda 

Egan and Board Member Regina Coakley, and from CHI 

communications team, Eoin Carroll and Kate Morgan. 

Background on the nomination:  
Providing homes during an international 
refugee crisis

‘A housing body’s response to the Syrian Refugee 

Crisis’ provided homes in sustainable communities 

for families displaced by the Syrian Refugee crisis. CHI 

delivered a rapid response due to the immediate need 

for accommodation. CHI worked in partnership with 

the Irish Red Cross through a ‘pledge programme’ and 

partnered with Irish Local Authorities in the provision of 

housing.

At the outbreak of the Syrian war, Ireland had committed 

to relocating and resettling up to 4,000 persons as 

part of the Irish Refugee Protection Programme (IRPP). 

Ireland was faced with an acute housing crisis at the 

time, and appropriate accommodation was difficult to 

source and make available.

Co-operative Housing Ireland was honoured to be nominated among its 
European peers for a European Responsible Housing Award. CHI was nominated 
for its project ‘A Housing Body’s response to the Syrian Refugee Crisis’, under, 
‘Going the extra mile in extraordinary circumstances’, a new category created for 
the 2022 Awards to recognise the critical response many housing organisations 
undertook during the pandemic. 

Leading the  
Co-operative  
Movement

CHI’s ‘A Housing Body’s response to the Syrian Refugee 
crisis’ nominated for European Responsible Housing Award

A still of Mustafa Babilli from the short film ‘Finding a Home 
After Losing Everything’.
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CHI’s response to the crisis saw the co-operation 

of stakeholders at every level, from international 

organisations such as the United Nations (UN), to 

national institutions such as the Irish Government, 

to local authorities operating within towns and 

counties across Ireland, to the Irish public pledging 

accommodation within their own homes.

Finding a home after losing everything

A short film was developed by BBC StoryWorks about 

the project focusing on one family affected by the war. 

Mustafa and his family lost everything in the Syrian 

civil war. He told their story of resettlement in Ireland, 

and how Enniscorthy, Co. Wexford has become their 

hometown. The film was screened in Helsinki during 

the festival as part of the BBC StoryWorks & Housing 

Europe: Building Communities Series. 

Going the extra mile in extraordinary 
circumstances
CHI was delighted to see its Austrian peers take home 

the award for ‘Going the extra mile in extraordinary 

circumstances’, for their project, ‘zuhause ankommen 

(arriving home): a sustainable initiative on combatting 

homelessness in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.’ 

Congratulations to everyone who made this initiative a 

possibility.

The European Responsible Housing Initiative (ERHIN) 

is a project implemented by DELPHIS, Housing Europe 

and the International Union of Tenants, co-funded by 

the European Commission (DG Enterprise).

“I feel I’ve found a safe 
place for my family. This 
village and this house is 
my home” 

- Mustafa

Originally from Syria, Mustafa and his family fled after the 
outbreak of war and were resettled in Enniscorthy, Co. 
Wexford.

Mustafa’s new home in Enniscorthy, Co. Wexford.
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Co-operative and student-led housing offers a democratic, 

affordable and ethical option to housing, one in which the 

accommodation is controlled by the tenants and profits are 

reinvested into the upkeep of the building. Student housing 

co-operatives have been popping up around the UK and 

Europe, for example the Edinburgh Student Housing Co-op, 

and now there is movement happening in Ireland; with the 

‘Belfast Student Housing Co-op’ just recently established.

“It was a fantastic opportunity to 
be able to travel over to Zürich 
and Geneva and to network with 
people from a variety of different 
backgrounds.  It was great to hear 
about their own hardships and 
memories with their co-ops, each 
being involved in some form of 
housing co-operatives, such as 
Maggie from North America with 
NASCO, Vivian and Scott from 
Student Co-op Homes, Mike from 
the Edinburgh Student Housing  
Co-op, as well as many others.”

Supporting students from Belfast and Cork to  
become leaders in co-operative housing

Co-operative Housing Ireland was delighted to join with other institutions to support 

students from Belfast and Cork, who are interested in the co-operative movement to 

travel to Switzerland to attend the first European Student-led Housing Symposium 

in Zurich and Geneva, Switzerland. These students are members of a grassroots 

group who are looking to create a Student Housing Co-operative for third-level and 

apprenticeship students living in Cork City.

Jennifer - Student involved in the project.

Grace, Jennifer, Cormac, Isabel and Rob from Cork and 
Belfast Student Housing Co-ops.
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Rent
CHI performed well in arrears management in 2022.  The team worked hard and 

finished the year ahead of target.  It was a challenging year, the increased cost of 

living being particularly difficult on those Members with fixed incomes.  Early 

intervention and engagement with Members in arrears were extremely beneficial 

in managing the arrears.  CHI actively engaged with the Residential Tenancies 

Board to help resolve arrears cases.

CHI Arrears 2022

Dec Jan  Feb Mar Apr May  Jun  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec Jan 
 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 23

0.0

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

2.35%

2.13%
2.33%

2.18% 2.18% 2.19%
2.27% 2.28%

2.43%
2.31%

2.52%

2.29%
2.46%

2.10%
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Structure
Co operative Housing Ireland Society Limited (“the 

Society”) was formed in 1973 under the Industrial and 

Provident Societies Acts (Reg. No. 3174R) and is the 

national organisation representing, promoting, and 

developing the co-operative housing movement in 

Ireland. The Society is jointly owned by its affiliated 

co-operative housing societies. It is a not-for-profit 

organisation whose objectives are charitable in nature 

and has charitable status (CHY 6522). The Society’s 

Registered Charity Number (RCN) is 20012182.

Co-operative Housing Ireland is Governed by its Rules, 

which were last amended at a Special General Meeting 

on 12 November 2022.

Governance and Management
Co-operative Housing Ireland Board

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Board comprises twelve 

non-executive members. Up to seven Members of the 

Board are elected by the Members of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland and up to five are co-opted, by the 

Board, through a competitive, publicly advertised, 

process. Prospective co-opted members apply by 

submitting their CV and a letter outlining how their 

skillset meets the needs of the organisation. This is 

followed by an interview process. 

Board members serve for a two-year term which may 

be renewed up to a maximum tenure of ten years.  

The Chairperson is elected, yearly, by the Board after the 

AGM up to a maximum of six years. The CEO is not a 

member of the Board.

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Rules stipulate that 

an Election takes place every two years; 2022 was an 

election year. Outside of election years, when vacancies 

arise – for example, upon a resignation – Board 

members can be co-opted. 

The Board give their time to Co-operative Housing 

Ireland on a voluntary basis and receive no 

remuneration. Out-of-pocket expenses may be 

reimbursed.

The Board met 10 times in 2022 (seven times in 2021), 

with an attendance of 69% (2021, 76%). Some meetings 

were held virtually and some meetings were a blend of 

in-person and virtual attendance. 

Appointments and resignations

There were six appointments to the Board of 

Management during the year between the approval 

of the 31 December 2021 financial statements and the 

approval of the 31 December 2022 financial statements. 

The following were elected to the Board of Management 

on 12th November 2022: Nuala Savage, Marianne Ward 

O’Leary Maughan. The following were co-opted to the 

Board of Management on 6th December 2022: Michael 

Heaney, Eugene McLoughlin, Gerard McDonogh,  

Ken Burke.

There were six resignations from the Board of 

Management during the year between the approval 

of the 31 December 2021 financial statements and the 

approval of the 31 December 2022 financial statements. 

The following resigned from the Board of Management 

on 12th November 2022: Carol Tancock, Lisa Kinsella 

Colman, Claire Ryan, Kenneth Hanrahan, Enda McGuane 

and Michael Collins.

Structure, 
Governance 
and 
Management 
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Enda McGuane (retired 12 November 2022)
Enda McGuane (FSCSI, FRICS) has over 20 years’ experience in 
senior management in Property, in both the private and public 
sectors. Enda is also Vice President of the Society of Chartered 
Surveyors Ireland (SCSI) as well as a member of the Chambers 
Ireland Sustainability, Infrastructure and Planning Taskforce.

Claire Ryan (retired 12 November 2022)
Claire Ryan is a solicitor with extensive experience in residential 
and commercial property law, working in private practice in 
Ennis, Co. Clare. She worked closely in her role as a solicitor with 
Approved Housing Bodies for many years. Claire lives in Co. Clare 
with her family.

Carol Tancock (retired 12 November 2022)
Carol Tancock is the Branch Manager of FM-WM Service Company. 
She is specialised in Commercial Real Estate and Infrastructure 
financing. Originally from Dublin, she now lives in Co. Meath with 
her husband, two daughters and their dog.

Ken Burke (appointed 06 December 2022)
Ken lives in Dublin and has over 25 years’ experience leading financial services 
businesses. He holds board positions in regulated firms in Ireland and the 
UK and was previously CEO of AIB Mortgage Bank and Head of AIB Business 
Banking. He runs a successful strategic advisory business and has extensive 
property, commercial and risk skills. Ken is a Certified Director and holds a 
Masters in Business Administration from Trinity College.

Michael Heaney (appointed 06 December2022)
From 2017 to 2022, Michael Heaney served as CEO of Údarás na Gaeltachta, 
the state agency with responsibility for economic, social and cultural 
development in Ireland’s Gaeltacht regions. Prior to this, he was Director of 
Planning, Economic Development, Community and Cultural Services with 
Donegal County Council. He also served as Chief Executive of the Donegal 
County Development Board. He has worked in other roles within the state, 
local development, community development and development ofeducation 
sectors. Michael is a Board Member of the Irish College Leuven, of Asia Matters 
and of Donegal Tourism. At present, he is Vice-President of the Assembly of 
European Regions(AER).

Gerard McDonogh (appointed 06 December2022)
Gerry is a Chartered Accountant and experienced Finance professional having 
spent his early career working with PwC and subsequently spent 28 years 
with Musgrave Group in senior finance leadership positions before retiring in 
2021. He has extensive experience in financial risk management, Corporate 
Governance and regulatory compliance. Gerry is a director of Douglas Credit 
Union, a not-for-profit regulated financial institution and lives in Cork with 
his family.

Eugene McLoughlin (appointed 06 December2022)
Eugene has over 40 years’ experience in the financial services industry 
and has held senior positions in Ulster Bank Group and The National Asset 
Management Agency. He is a Fellow of The Institute of Bankers in Ireland 
and holds a Diploma in Company Direction from The Institute of Directors in 
Ireland. Eugene lives in Dublin and is married with three adult children.

Marianne Ward-O’Leary Maughan  
(appointed 12 November 2022)
Marianne is a CHI Member, married with five kids and two grandchildren who 
are her heart and soul. Marianne loves music, cars, animals, and working in 
the community to help improve the area. She’s proud of where she lives, the 
progress the community has made in the past few years, and the neighbours 
and friendships she has made along the way. Marianne looks forward to being 
part of a team of strong people and working towards more improvements 
across the board for all CHI Members.

Pearse O’Shiel (Chairperson)
Pearse O’Shiel is the chairperson of the CHI Board. He 
is a Ph.D. researcher and lecturer in the philosophy of 
education. He was raised in a home built by the New 
Homes Housing Co-operative in Dublin. Pearse lives in Co. 
Clare and is married with three adult children.

Enda Egan (Vice Chairperson)
Enda Egan is a serving civil servant since 1983. He has 
been volunteering for many years with the Richard 
Pampuri Social Club which is a social club for young adults 
with learning disabilities and special needs.

Cinnamon Blackmore  
Cinnamon Blackmore is the chairperson of the Slaney 
Co-operative. She came to social activism to campaign for 
support and services for parents of special needs children, 
affordable housing and increased mental health services 
for young people in Wexford. She lives in Gorey and is a 
full-time carer to her son. 

Michael Collins (retired 12 November 2022)
Michael Collins is an experienced CFO having worked in 
Construction, Aviation and Food sectors. He is currently 
CFO with Camile Thai Kitchens. Originally from Tipperary, 
he now lives in Dublin with his wife and two daughters.

Regina Coakley 
Regina works full time in manufacturing and has held 
positions as Training Instructor, Health and Safety 
Co-ordinator and is currently Production Supervisor and 
Planner. Regina lives in a Co-operative Housing scheme in 
Graiguecullen, Co. Laois.

Kenneth Hanrahan (retired 12 November 2022)
Ken Hanrahan has years of experience in hospitality 
and recently achieved a Level 5 in Tourism and Events 
Management. He was formerly a mental health worker. 
He is a CHI Member and is married with two children.

Frances Kawala 
Frances Kawala, although now retired, uses her arts 
background to find creative ways to encourage community 
involvement working with several local organisations to 
promote the needs of seniors, including their housing 
needs. She lives in a CHI home in Birr, Co. Offaly.

Lisa Kinsella Colman (retired 12 November 2022)
Lisa Kinsella Colman is a community activist and loves 
living in a co-operative. She is very active within the local 
community and co-operative projects and activities. She 
is a mother of four and grandmother of three.

Derek Maher
Derek Maher is the Chairman of Downview Residents’ 
Association and is currently Chairman of Munster 
Co-operative. He is married with four children and two 
grandchildren.

Nuala Savage (appointed 12 November 2022)
Nuala grew up in Bray, Co. Wicklow, and is the mother of one son. She works 
as a nurse, and previously owned and ran a creche in Leopardstown. Her son 
has special needs and she actively engages in courses to support his care. 
Nuala describes herself as a ‘people person’, with a lot to offer and to learn. 
She loves putting her knowledge to good use in the community and getting 
things done.

Co-operative Housing Ireland Board
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The attendance of members was as follows:

Co-operative Housing Ireland Committees

The Board also has four standing sub-committees 

that meet on a regular basis: the Audit, Assurance and 

Finance Committee, Housing Services & Community 

Engagement Committee, Asset Management & Property 

Services Committee, and Development and Growth 

Committee. The membership of these sub-committees 

includes Board Members, as well as others who are not 

members of the Board who, in a voluntary capacity, 

provide their expertise. 

There are also Ad Hoc Officer, Co-operative Structures, 

and Remuneration Committees.

Details of the standing sub-committees are outlined 

below:

Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee

The Audit, Assurance, and Finance (AAF) Committee is 

comprised of voluntary membership and met formally 

six times during 2022. This was supplemented with 

various ad hoc work undertaken by the Committee, 

and its working groups, and provided individually by its 

members during the year. 

The workings of the AAF Committee are subject 

to terms of reference stipulated by the Board. The 

Committee gives assurance to the Board in giving 

objective advice on the adequacy of the systems of 

governance, internal control and risk management 

in the Society, including oversight of the work of the 

internal audit function. The role of the AAF Committee is 

therefore advisory rather than supervisory. 

In summary, it provides oversight of the financial 

reporting process, risk management systems, 

governance, internal controls and audit functions of the 

Society and provides assurance on the adequacy of and 

compliance with these systems. 

On the basis of its considerations during the financial 

year, the AAF Committee is satisfied that the controls in 

place in CHI have been developed in a manner which 

addresses the range of risks for the Society and that 

these controls are operating satisfactorily. 

Name Meeting  Length of 

 Attendance/No. Service 

 Eligible  (years) 

Carol Tancock 

(Chairperson/Board Member) 6/6 4

Michael Collins  

(Board Member)  6/6 2

Donal Dunlop*  1/3 1.5

Brian Heffernan 6/6  2

Eugene McLoughlin  4/6  2

Name Meeting  Length of 

 Attendance/No. Service 

 Eligible  (years) 

Pearse O’Shiel (Chairperson) 10/10 4.25

Enda Egan (Vice Chairperson) 8/9 7

Cinnamon Blackmore 7/10 2.25

Ken Burke  0/0  <1

Michael Collins 4/8 2

Regina Coakley 9/10 2.25

Kenneth Hanrahan  0/8  2

Michael Heaney 0/0 <1

Frances Kawala 9/10 4.25

Lisa Kinsella Colman 1/8 4

Derek Maher  8/10  3.25

Gerard McDonogh 0/0 <1

Enda McGuane  5/8  2

Eugene McLoughlin 0/0 <1

Claire Ryan  6/8  4

Nuala Savage 2/2 <1

Carol Tancock  7/8  6

Marianne Ward-O’Leary Maughan 1/2 <1

* Donal Dunlop resigned from AAF during the year; this was recorded 
 at the 21st June 2022 sub-committee meeting. 
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The Committee is also satisfied that the Internal Audit 

function and the external auditors are making a valuable 

contribution to the overall control environment through 

their evaluation and recommendations for improvement 

of controls across the activities of CHI.

Customer Services Committee 

The role of the Customer Services Committee, 

which met three times during the year (there were 

four meetings scheduled but one of them didn’t go 

ahead because the committee was not quorate), is 

to provide direction and oversight on the Society’s 

work in engaging customers, including their wider 

community, to provide services that meet their needs 

and improve the customer experience. In addition, the 

committee has oversight of the collection of rental 

income, asset management and the operation of 

the Childcare business. The sub-committee helps to 

ensure that efficient and effective services are provided 

to meet agreed strategic and corporate outcomes, 

objectives and values, and that mitigation action is 

taken to address under performance where necessary. 

It has a particular focus on customer and community 

insight and ensuring that the Society learns from and is 

responsive to customer and community feedback. 

Asset Management and Property Services 
Committee

During 2022 the Board decided that there was a 

business need to establish an Asset Management and 

Property Services Committee. A term of reference was 

developed, and the sub-committee was incorporated 

in early 2023. The sub-committee provides oversight 

on all aspects of the maintenance and protection of 

the assets of the business, giving advice and making 

recommendations to the Board with specific focus 

on CHI’s Asset Management Strategy including 

consideration of the multi-annual capital component 

replacement programme, Deep Energy Retrofit 

Programme, and priorities for planned maintenance and 

asset improvements.

Development and Growth Committee

The Development and Growth Committee, which meets 

five times during the year, provides detailed scrutiny on 

all aspects of developing the Society’s business, giving 

advice and making recommendations to the Board 

on all aspects of growth and development including 

investment in specific housing developments. The sub-

committee has a strategy development role on behalf of 

the Board for forward growth and major new business. 

The sub-committee also acts as a sounding board for 

long-term development planning and provides advice 

on best practice in the areas of planning, design, access, 

and sustainability to the Board. 

Name Meeting  Length of 

 Attendance Service 

   (years)

Lisa Kinsella Colman   

(Chairperson/Board Member) 3/3 4.25

Regina Coakley (Board Member)  2/3 2.25

Kenneth Hanrahan (Board Member)  0/3 2.25

Derek Maher (Board Member)  3/3 3.25

Kim Olin  2/3 1.5

John Power  2/3 1.5

*There were no subcommittee meetings between October and year end.

Name Meeting  Length of 

 Attendance Service 

   (years)

Enda McGuane  

(Chairperson/Board Member) 3/5 2

Martin Hanratty 4/5 2

Cinnamon Blackmore 4/5 2

Frances Kawala  

(Board Member) 3/5 2.5

Sarah Sherlock 3/5 2

Catherine Sturgeon 4/5 2
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Training and Induction

All new Board Members are required to complete an 

induction process, which includes presentations on 

the aims of Co-operative Housing Ireland, how they are 

being achieved, and an extensive training programme. 

In partnership with The Wheel (Ireland’s national 

association of community and voluntary organisations) 

CHI has developed a bespoke training programme 

which includes content on the role of the board, 

governance, strategy, strategic change, leadership, 

communications, housing policy, and two modules on 

finance.  Failure for a Board Member to complete their 

required training during their first term will preclude 

them from re-election or re-co-opting.

Conflicts of Interest

All Board Members must sign a Code of Conduct form 

which outlines possible conflicts of interest.  Members 

also must complete a Register of Interests form which 

records all business interests for themselves and all 

their immediate family. All Board Members sign an 

Attendance Sheet at each Board Meeting which states 

that they do not have a conflict of interest with any item 

on a meeting’s agenda for that meeting. All meetings 

have ‘Conflict of Interest’ as a standing item and the 

Chairperson specifically asks the attendees if they have 

any conflict of interest with any item on the Agenda.

If a Board or Sub-committee Member has a conflict 

of interest, or perceived conflict, they will make this 

known and absent themselves for the relevant part of 

a meeting. This is then recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting

Material ‘Conflicts of Interests’ may require Board 

Members to resign their position on the Board. CHI 

Rules deal comprehensively with Conflicts of Interest.

Board Appraisal  

The collective and individual performance is assessed 

on a bi-annual basis. This process is managed by 

an independent consultant. The process includes a 

self-reflective exercise for each Board Member and a 

one-on-one interview with each Board Member. The 

independent consultant also attends several Board 

Meetings in an observer capacity. The independent 

consultant then gives individual feedback to each Board 

Member on a confidential basis. The independent 

consultant also produces a report which is given only 

to the Chairperson. The Chairperson having assessed 

the findings of the report may choose to take specific 

actions as they see fit.

Code of Conduct

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Board members have 

signed up to a Code of Conduct, which underpins 

all their actions. The Code of Conduct is based on 

the following values and principles – honesty, best 

interest of CHI, loyalty, commitment to declare conflict, 

confidentiality, law abiding, maintaining requirements  

of tenancy agreement, and integrity. 

Decision Making and Standards

The Board is committed to maintaining the highest 

standard of corporate governance and they believe 

that this is a key element in ensuring the proper 

operation of the Society’s activities. They are responsible 

for providing leadership, developing strategy and 

ensuring control. The Board currently comprises twelve 

non-executive members. The Board is provided with 

regular financial and operational information. It meets 

regularly as required and met in full 10 times in 2022. 

The role of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer 

are separate and the Board is independent of the 

management of the Society. The Board is committed to 

achieving best practice in all the Society’s operations 

and recognises its responsibility to ensure that the 

Society has appropriate systems of internal control.

Representing, Promoting, Developing   Since 1973

53



The Executive Management Team in 2022 comprised  

of Chief Executive Officer, Head of New Business,  

Head of Finance, Head of Corporate Services,  

Head of Customer Services (this role was changed to 

Head of Housing Services and Community Engagement 

in July 2022), and Head of Asset Management & 

Property Services. In January 2023 the titles of the 

EMT changed from Head of to Director of.

Co-operative Housing Ireland is regulated by several 

entities including the Approved Housing Body 

Regulatory Authority (AHBRA) and the Charities 

Regulator. AHBRA’s role is to regulate AHBs for the 

purposes of protecting housing assets provided or 

managed by AHBs.

In 2022 CHI participated in the AHBRA’s ‘Pilot 

Assessment Programme’ in addition to making a return 

to its Annual Monitoring process.

Protected Disclosures

CHI received a Protected Disclosure in early 2022;  

the Board appointed an experienced senior counsel  

to investigate the matter.

Co-operative Housing Ireland Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022

54



2022 saw CHI achieve strong financial results despite the challenges presented by high inflation, 

interest rates, and the invasion of the Ukraine.

Review  
of Financial 
Outcome 2022
Our financial outcome is presented in the audited financial statements from  

page 75.   A detailed budget is prepared in line with the strategic plan, and it is 

reviewed by the Audit, Assurance and Finance sub-committee and further 

reviewed and approved by the Board of Management. 

Actual results and outcomes are compared against the budget to ensure 

alignment with plan, tight budgetary control, and value for money.

+28.14%
Income

(Earnings Before 
Interest Tax 
Depreciation and 
Amortisation)

+26.03%
Surplus

+39.01%
EBITDA
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Income  €’m

Rental Income and other Charges €13.38

Payment & Availability Income €27.27

Management & Maintenance Income  €0.65

Capital Subsidies amortised €7.33

Revenue based grants €0.67

Other Income €1.15

 Total Income €50.45

The main driver for the increase in income was the 

continued growth in social housing homes delivered by 

CHI. CHI acquired 463 units in 2022. Total housing stock  

at the end of 2022 amounted to 4,338 units.

The growth in units resulted in increased Payment and 

Availability Agreement income to €27.27 million and 

Rental Income and other charges to tenants to €13.38 

million. These income streams constituted 81% of CHI’s 

total income in resourcing the operational costs of CHI’s 

activities and debt financing.

The total income for CHI 

in 2022 amounted to 

€50.45m. This was an 

increase of 28.14% on 

2021. This was a very solid 

performance confirming 

strong growth in line with 

expectations.

Income

n	 Rental Income

n	 Payment Availability 
Agreements Income

n	 Management & 
Maintenance income

n	 Capital Susidies 
amortised

n		Revenue Based Grants

n		Other Income (0%)

Total Income 
€50.45m by 
Category

*A Glossary of Financial Terms are 
presented at the back of this Report

54%

27%
15%

2%

1%

1%
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Total expenditure on Housing  

and Community services for  

2022 was €17.065m an increase 

in costs of 28.06% from 2021. 

However, the costs were in line 

with expectations.

Expenditure 2022 Expenditure as millions

Expenditure 2022 v 2021

€15.661 m
€17.065 m

€32.726 m

€25.993 m

n	Housing & Community Expenditure

n	Depreciation

n	Expenditure 2021

n	Expenditure 2022
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Surplus 
The surplus is shown as 

per the financial statements 

including depreciation and 

capital grants amortised.

EBITDA  
(Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation)

EBITDA in 2022 amounted 

to €26.05m an increase of 

39% on 2021. EBITDA is an 

effective indicator of the 

financial strength generated 

from CHI’s operations. CHI has 

continued to grow its EBITDA 

line over a five-year period. 

Five-year EBITDA trending 

2018 – 2022 is presented as:
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The KPIs confirm the solid financials at 
the end of 2022. 

• EBITDA Margin – Earnings (EBITDA) as % of 

Total Income (Less Amortisation).

 60% Indicates financial strength generated 

by CHI operations.

• EBITDA Interest Cover – Earnings (EBITDA) 

as % of Interest payable

 254% Indicates that Earnings are 

comfortably covering our Interest amounts 

payable on loans, well ahead of the 

threshold required by our lenders.

• Debt Service Cover – Earnings (EBITDA) as a 

% of Interest and Capital Repayments.  

 128% Indicates that Earnings are covering 

our Interest and Capital amounts payable 

on loans well, well ahead of the threshold 

required by CHI lenders. 

• Gearing

 69% Gearing Ratio– Loans less cash as a % 

of Historic Cost of Properties 

 48% Gearing Ratio excluding CALF – Loans 

less cash excluding CALF Loans as a % of 

Historic Cost of properties.

 The Gearing ratio has increased due to the 

incremental debt drawn to fund property 

purchases during the year. CHI funds its 

investment in social housing through the 

Government supported framework of CALF 

and Payment and Availability funding. Bank 

and other finance sources are evaluated 

on an ongoing basis. The Board and 

Management is comfortable with increasing 

gearing because State backed income is 

being used to underpin the debt. With CALF 

excluded, the ratios are lower. The current 

gearing ratio limit set by the Board is 80% 

as specified in the Treasury Management 

Policy. 

There are several financial indicators that the 

Board, Committees and Management use to 

monitor the financial performance of CHI. 

Key Financial 
Performance 
Indicators (KPIs)

Ratios/KPIs 2022 2021

EBITDA Margin 60% 58%

EBITDA Interest Cover 254% 252%

Debt Service Cover 128% 145%

Gearing 69% 64%

Gearing excl. CALF 48% 46%

Liquidity  159% 174%
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CALF and P&A 
Funding Structure

•  Liquidity Ratio – Debtors + Cash as a % of 

current Liabilities 

CHI’s liquidity continues to be strong with cash 

and short-term debtors more than its current 

liabilities. At the end of 2022, the liquidity ratio 

was 159%. This confirmed additional head room 

of 59% over the amount of the short-term 

liabilities at year end. Pursuant to the Treasury 

Management Policy, CHI is always required, to 

hold a minimum cash deposit of €2 million.  

The CHI combined bank balances increased  

by €7 million to €24.9 million in the full year 

ended 2022.

Local Authorities Social Tenants

AHB

HFA/Private Funders

P&A Income 
Streams

Differential 
Rent

Senior Debt 
Service

CALF Funding
<=30% of Capital

Debt Finance
Typically <=80%  

of Capital

                                Cashflows on acquisition / over construction period                                    Cashflows over P&A contract /debt term
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The HFA continues to be the key lending 

partner to CHI. CALF funding from Local 

Authorities is an important funding pillar to 

support bank debt and external non-state 

funding streams. 

CHI continues to evaluate alternate funding 

strategies which are economically positive, 

prudent and ensure financial resilience for the 

organisation in the long term. 

Current sources of funding to CHI are loans 

from the Housing Finance Agency (HFA), Bank 

of Ireland and Department of Housing under 

CALF. This debt grew from €420.3m in 2021 to 

€566.2m at year end 2022.

Funding 
€566.2m
Total Debt 
Funding Balances

29%63%

8%

CHI Debt Profile  
31/12/2022

HFA

BOI

CALF
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Loan Type Weighted Average Loan Interest 31/12/2022 Loan Portfolio Holding

Fixed Loans Residential 2.35% 70.95%

CALF 2.00% 29.02%

Variable Loans Residential 0% 0.0%

Non-Residential Variable Loans 3.98% 0.03%

Non-Residential Fixed Loans 0 0.0%

CHI adopts a risk averse approach to its residential housing borrowings by using fixed interest 

rates for the terms of the loans, secured on specific properties, and matched to the term of the 

State support Payment and Availability contracts. The weighted average Loan Interest rate for 

the categories of outstanding debts were represented as:

Loan interest charged to the Income and 

Expenditure accounts amounted to €10.250 

million in 2022. This represented an increase 

of 38%. The increase in loan interest charged is 

directly related to the growth in loan drawdowns 

and rising interest rates during 2022.

Housing Tangible Fixed Assets  

Housing Tangible Fixed Assets at cost 

amounted to €785.6 million at the end of 2022.  

The corresponding amount for 2021 was  

€626.9 million. This represented an increase  

of €158.6 million.

The increase included the purchase costs  

of 463 social housing homes in 2022.

Reserves Position

The CHI Reserves policy is reflected in the 2022 

Financial Statements.

Revenue Reserves

CHI’s policy is to retain a level of revenue reserves 

which reflect its needs at the current time and in 

the foreseeable future. The reserves are sufficient 

to meeting, as a minimum, the running costs 

for a period of 12 months net of contractually 

committed State backed Payment and Availability 

income. Annually the Board reviews the 

adequacy of the amount and period amending it, 

where necessary, to reflect changing needs. 
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Designated Reserve – for future 
investment in Stock Condition/Major 
Repairs Capex
CHI’s policy is to retain a level of designated reserves in 

cash backed form. The 2022 designated reserves are 

sufficient to meeting as a minimum the following year’s 

2023 budgeted Stock Condition/Major Repairs Capex.  

On an ongoing basis the Board aims to generate a surplus 

on operations which will allow for augmentation of the  

CHI designated reserves.

Dividends and retentions 
Co-operative Housing Ireland is precluded by its rules from 

paying dividends either as part of normal operations or on 

a distribution of its assets in the event of a winding-up. 

Statement of relevant audit information 
The Board have taken all necessary steps to ensure 

that they have been made aware of all relevant audit 

information and confirm that, so far as management 

are aware, there is no relevant information of which the 

statutory auditors are unaware. 

Future developments 
CHI continues to seek avenues to develop new co-

operative housing across tenures throughout the country. 

CHI will actively expand the co-operative housing model 

across Ireland in response to housing needs. Expansion will 

be in line with the Development Growth Plan adopted by 

the Board in September 2020. 

Going concern 
Based on the results for the year, the year-end financial 

position and the approved 2022 budget, the Board 

believes that CHI has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Board 

believes that there are therefore no material uncertainties 

that call into doubt CHI’s ability to continue in operation. 

Accordingly, CHI continues to adopt the “going concern” 

basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Risk Management Framework 
and Risk Appetite
CHI’s Board maintains a Risk 
Management Policy that sets out 
the risk appetite, risk tolerance, risk 
statements by risk category, and the 
overall governance structure employed 
to monitor and manage mitigation 
strategies. 

In 2022 the Risk Appetite was fully re-assessed by the 

Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee, and the Board, 

who determined that no changes were required in the 

organisation’s approach to risk. The policy is further 

supplemented by the Risk Register, which details the main 

risks to the organisation, ranks them and their likelihood 

to materialise as well as the potential impact on the 

organisation. It also outlines mitigating strategies aimed 

at reducing or controlling the incidence or impact on the 

organisation. CHI remains committed to ensuring that risk 

is identified, managed, and reduced through implementing 

the risk management framework. This is further enhanced 

by an Incident Reporting process that links each incident 

to their respective risks, which in turn drives the review 

and update of the Risk Register, for example, changes or 

updates to existing risks, new or emerging risks, and so on. 

The commitment of CHI to maintaining a robust risk 

management framework to guide practice at all levels 

across the organisation is further cemented by the 

investment into a new IT solution – CalQRisk – that was 

onboarded in 2022. The new cloud-based solution will 

host the Risk Register, Incident Log and Complaints Log 

with strong reporting capabilities that are customised for 

CHI’s purposes.

Risk and Uncertainties
During the year, the Risk Register and Risk Management 

Policy were reviewed regularly as standing items at Board 

and Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee meetings. 

CHI performs regular reviews of all organisational risks 

and works with the Board to review, rank, and identify 

mitigating strategies as appropriate. The Risk Register is a 

living monitor of risks for the organisation and is regularly 

updated to reflect changes in the risk environment. Having 

a robust risk management framework in place allowed 

CHI to adapt and respond to the challenges such as the 

war in Ukraine and an observed increase of cyber-crime 

on a global scale that may have market implications such 

as a rise in inflation, rising costs of gas and electricity, 

change in government funding and approach to business 

models dealing with the acquisition and provision of new 

developments to deal with the anticipated housing needs 

of Ukrainian refugees.

This has led CHI to review internal controls around its IT 

infrastructure to ensure that a comprehensive business 

continuity and recovery plan is in place to manage 

potential business interruptions. CHI continues to actively 

promote cyber awareness with ongoing mandatory 

training with further measures anticipated for 2023.

Top 5 Risks
CHI utilises risk mapping as a method for assessing 

“Current Risk” (amount of risk that exists in the absence 

of controls and/or mitigating strategies) and “Residual 

Risk” (amount of risk that remains after controls and/or 

mitigating strategies are considered). The assessment is 

based on the Likelihood (probability of an event occurring) 

and Impact (estimate of the harm that could be caused 

by an event) of the risk and uses a 5-point scoring scale 

where 1 equals Low Risk and 5 equals High Risk. 

Depending on changes to the risk rankings (identified 

through regular reviews) the number of high-level risks 

may vary.
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AREA OF RISK  MITIGATION STRATEGY

Adverse 
Publicity
due to perceived governance 
and compliance failures 
(Reputational Risk)

Liquidity  
Risk 

Risk that CHI will 
encounter difficulties 
in meeting obligations 
arising from its financial 
liabilities, including 
unplanned over-runs on 
construction projects.

Legislative &  
Regulatory 
Requirements:
Failure to comply with legislative 
and regulatory requirements, e.g., 
regulatory returns, tax reforms, 
accounting, employment, property, 
H&S, government investigations 
and/or audits.

Funding 
Delays: 
The risk that funding is 
delayed or ceases. 

Building 
Codes for Fire 
Prevention: 
The risk that the 
organisation’s properties 
fail to meet building codes 
for fire prevention.

Implementation of Campbell Tickell recommendations completed.  

Robust recruitment (for co-optees), performance appraisal and training 

procedures for board members implemented.

Financial Oversight: Daily and weekly review of bank accounts. Cashflow position 

forecasting; Matching of mortgages to funding. 

Governance Oversight: Audit, Assurance & Finance Committee review of project 

management reports that may identify budget overruns.

Construction projects include contingency provisions. Performance bonds included for 

large scale construction projects. Legal Advisors are in place to engage with external 

parties where required. 

Quarterly Treasury Report was implemented in February 2020. A Treasury Management 

Policy was developed and approved by the Board 10 March 2020. Treasury Manager 

hired and in place since April 2021.

Board Strategic Plan is focused on turn-key acquisitions instead of direct built 

construction projects undertaken by CHI. The only exception to this is legacy projects 

that remain to be completed.

Challenge and/or follow and implement regulatory instruction / guidance, external 

auditor guidance.

The Board of Management report in Annual Audited Accounts and directly to the 

Approved Housing Bodies Regulatory Authority. 

Maintaining regulatory relationships through ongoing communication.

Strict adherence to deadlines.

Annual Returns are submitted to the Regulator each year. 

Housing Alliance influences with the Department of Housing with regards to policy 

change. 

No new developments are initiated or pursued without prior funding approval.

On 4th July 2022, the HFA have recertified CHI for funding for the next 12 months.

Fire detection systems are maintained in accordance IS 32118 and on assessment and 
recommendation from appropriately qualified Fire Safety Contractors and are upgraded  
(as required).

Rolling maintenance plan for CO2 and smoke detection units is in place. 

Regional Asset Manager request Owner Management Companies (OMCs) to provide 
confirmation of fire inspections carried out at their premises annually. 

Tender for Fire Safety Services was issued in 2020 and a new Fire Safety Service has been 
implemented that will perform all the statutory checks and monitoring activities.
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Further Information
Accounting Records
The measures taken by the board members to ensure 

compliance with the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 

of the Companies Act 2014 with regard to the keeping of 

accounting records, are the employment of appropriately 

qualified accounting personnel and the maintenance 

of computerised accounting systems. The company’s 

accounting records are maintained at the company’s 

registered office at 11/12 Warrington Place, Dublin 2.

Lobbying and Political Contributions
The Society is registered with the Charities Regulatory 

Authority (No. 20012182) and with the Regulator of 

Lobbying and submits regular returns. There were 

no political contributions in 2022, and as a result no 

disclosures are required under the Electoral Act, 1997.

Post balance sheet event
During 2022 CHI transferred engagements of its two 

childcare operations at St Finians, Lucan and Brookview, 

Tallaght to Startbright Learning Centres. Startbright 

Learning Centres is a registered charity (number CHY 

19199) specialising in the provision of community early 

learning services. Since 31st December 2022, CHI is actively 

under discussions with other interested parties regarding 

the transfer of the remaining CHI childcare operation at 

Island Key, Dublin.

Dividends and retentions
The Society is precluded by its rules from paying dividends 

either as part of normal operations or on a distribution of 

its assets in the event of a winding up.

Statement of relevant audit information
The board member has taken all the steps that ought to 

have been taken as a board member in order to be aware 

of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 

Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton, continue in office in 

accordance with section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Internal Audit and Evaluation

CHI’s internal audit team, RBK (formerly Russell Brennan Keane) continues to independently report directly to the Audit, 

Assurance and Finance Committee and the Board. RBK assures that all risk management governance and internal control 

processes are effective, and additionally provides expertise on system and process improvements. This allows CHI to be 

fully transparent and provides its Board with an independent level of scrutiny. 

CHI does not restrict internal audits to finance related only but looks at all risk profile areas across the organisation. The 

internal audit plan for 2022 was on track with the completion of the audits for the following two key areas: Fixed Assets & 

Capital Expenditure and Bank Loans. Progress is actively tracked through the Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee as 

well as the Board.
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Looking Ahead 
Co-operative Housing Ireland (CHI) will continue to improve 

services to its Members as well as seeking opportunities 

to develop new co-operative housing developments 

throughout the country. The organisation’s expansion will 

be in line with the Development Growth Plan 2020 and 

instructed by its Strategic Plan.

To achieve this CHI, in 2023, will:

• Follow its Development Growth Plan in providing 600 

new homes while delivering an additional 100+ due to 

delays in 2022 delivery. CHI is aiming for 2023 to be a 

record year for housing output.

• Continue to improve services to Members by resourcing 

the restructuring programme taking place in Housing 

Services and Community Engagement (HSCE). 

• CHI’s deep energy retrofit programme ‘Warmth and 

Wellbeing’ has now received a number of awards and will 

continue throughout the year.

• While CHI and all Approved Housing Bodies heavily rely 

on the Housing Finance Agency for funding, 2023 will 

see funding from another Central Bank approved lender.

• Examine its software management systems to identify 

 whether they remain appropriate to our needs.

Challenges 
Despite greater certainties in terms of multiannual funding 

and delivery targets – outlined in the Government’s housing 

strategy ‘Housing for All’ (HfA) – there is still a gap between 

targets and supply. While CHI has a strong development 

pipeline for 2023 and 2024, it is not yet clear whether total 

housing output, across all tenures, will reach targets set in 

HfA. 

Less than 18 months after the publication of Housing for All 

it has become apparent that housing targets will need to 

increase. Data from the 2022 Census found a higher level 

of population growth than what had been forecasted from 

2016. There is also strong evidence that household sizes 

are increasing despite no corresponding increase in birth 

rates, highlighting enforced intergenerational house sharing 

and delay in household and family formation. 

In addition to population growth and enforced housing 

sharing, 2022 also saw changes to household income 

eligibility allowing greater access to social housing. It is 

clear that housing delivery targets – social, cost rental, 

private rented, and homeownership – will need to increase. 

Affordable housing delivery (affordability is imbedded in 

social-renting) should be imperative and more vulnerable 

households prioritised. At a minimum this should mean 

that changes to national delivery targets aim for one social 

home for two private homes. 

2023 will see the publication of the Housing Commission’s 

report which will likely include strong recommendations on 

the future of housing in Ireland.

Collaborating with others, including the Housing Alliance, 

CHI will continue to look for opportunities to influence 

policy development to increase access to affordable 

housing for all. 

The Russia-Ukraine war, which is now in its second year, 

shows no sign of ending. Its impact has reverberated 

throughout Europe and the rest of the world. Ireland, a 

small country on the periphery of Europe, has received a 

significant number of refugees as well as being affected 

by supply chain issues, energy costs, inflation, and raw 

materials. Combined with labour shortages in construction 

and rising interest rates housing output continues to be 

constrained. 

The Approved Housing Bodies Regulatory Authority 

(AHBRA) has conducted its first assessment of AHBs as a 

statutory body. CHI welcomed the establishment of AHBRA 

and will continue to improve services to Members and how 

it operates based on sector guidelines from the regulator.

New legislation governing co-operatives is being drafted, 

CHI has proactively engaged with the process including 

making representations at an Oireachtas Committee 

hearing. CHI very much welcomes the progressive work 

of the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment 

in drafting the legislation, however, CHI and its members 

will be required to completely overhaul their Rules at some 

point, likely to be 2025.  
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Executive Management Team

Kieron Brennan 
Chief Executive Officer 
Kieron Brennan has been CEO of Co-operative Housing Ireland 
since 2014. He has extensive experience in the community, 
voluntary and co-operative sector, which saw him lead the 
Irish League of Credit Unions from 2008 – 2014. Prior to 
this, he held a leadership position as a Programme Manager 
with POBAL, a not-for-profit community development 
and financing company, which manages programmes on 
behalf of the Irish Government and the EU. He was also Irish 
Manager of Triodos Bank (one of Europe’s largest ethical 
banks), Executive Director of Clann Credo (social development 
fund) and Chief Executive of Partas.

Mark Bolger
Director of Finance 
Mark Bolger joined Co-operative Housing Ireland as 
Director of Finance in February 2019. A qualified Chartered 
Accountant with a MSc. in Real Estate he has held senior 
leadership positions including Director of Finance & Company 
Secretary of Horse Sport Ireland (the governing body for the 
equestrian sector in Ireland), Director General of the Irish 
Horse Board Co-operative Society, Financial Controller of 
the Racecourse & Property Division of Horse Racing Ireland 
(Commercial Semi-State). He has a wide range of experience 
of having also worked as Financial Controller in the private 
sector with the Industrial Print Group. Mark trained with 
Deloitte.

Eoin Carroll
Director of Policy and Communications 
Eoin Carroll’s expertise is in the areas of housing policy, 
communications, and organisational development. With 
senior management experience, including as Executive 
Director, he previously led the Policy and Public Affairs 
function in Extern, an all-island charity supporting 25,000 
vulnerable children, individuals and families each year. 
Eoin has also worked in services for people experiencing 
homelessness. He is currently on the Board of a not-for-profit 
that supports organisations to create high quality, evidenced 
based services and is a former chairperson of the Irish Social 
Policy Association. Eoin holds a MSc. Social Policy (LSE), 
MBS Business (UCC), BA Sociology & Social Policy (TCD), Dip. 
Corporate Governance, and Dip. Community Development.

Padraic Clancy
Director of New Business & Development
Padraic Clancy is Director of New Business, leading the 
Co-operative Housing Ireland Development Team. Padraic 
has over 25 years in Property Acquisition and Development 
and holding a Honours Degree in Surveying and a National 
Diploma in Estate Management. Padraic has managed 
properties on behalf of NAMA, all major Banks and receivers 
and is a specialist in property management, security and 
maintenance. Padraic was previously Head of VPSitex in 
Ireland, managing the security and maintenance works 
on large mixed Property Portfolios for PWC, Mazars, Grant 
Thornton and Duff and Phelps.

Dave Mayner
Director of Housing Services  
& Community Engagement
Dave has worked in social housing for more than 24 years. 
Before coming to CHI he spent his career to date in England, 
working for several different housing providers. He has 
operated in senior management positions since 2010 and 
at director level from 2017 – 2022 in Onward Homes, a 
housing association owning and managing 35,000 homes 
in the north-west of England. Dave has a background in 
transformational change while delivering high levels of 
performance. He has a passion for quality, customer service 
and maximising social benefit.

David McCourt
Director of Asset Management  
& Property Services
David McCourt joined Co-operative Housing Ireland as 
Director of Asset Management & Property Services in June 
2021. A Chartered Engineer with an Honours Degree in Civil 
Engineering, David has held senior leadership positions 
including Head of Technical Services at Centre Parcs Ireland 
where he was a senior member of the project implementation 
team, and as Chief of Infrastructure with the International 
Peacekeeping Mission in Kosovo. He has a wide range of 
experience having served over 20 years in the Irish Defence 
Forces serving in the Corps of Engineers, overseas with both 
the United Nations and NATO and on secondment to Irish Aid 
& DFAT.

Pat Moyne
Director of Corporate Services
With more than 30 years’ experience of IT and Management 
Consultancy Pat is leading the Change Programme to 
restructure the business to prepare for the growth strategy 
of the business and the new regulatory environment that 
is now in place. Pat studied Computer Science at Trinity 
College Dublin and has worked with a number of large IT 
and Management Consulting firms as well as working in the 
Banking industry and, more recently, with a large property 
services firm. Pat was the Operations Director of BearingPoint 
and the Head of Operations and Service Delivery for Savills 
Ireland. Pat is a Member of the Irish Computer Society.
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Board Members’ Responsibilities Statement

The board members are responsible for preparing the Board members’ Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and regulations. 

Irish company law requires the board members to prepare 

the financial statements for each financial year. Under 

the law, the board members have elected to prepare the 

financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act 

2014 and Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland’. 

Under company law, the board members must not 

approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 

and financial position of the Company as at the financial 

year end date, of the profit or loss for that financial year 

and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the board 

members are required to: 

·  select suitable accounting policies for the Company’s 

financial statements and then apply them consistently; 

·  make judgements and accounting estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent; 

·  state whether the financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with applicable accounting 

standards, identify those standards, and note the effect 

and the reasons for any material departure from those 

standards; and 

·  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 

basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company will continue in business. 

The board members are responsible for ensuring that the 

Company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting 

records which correctly explain and record the transactions 

of the Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be 

determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to 

ensure that the financial statements and Board members’ 

Report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable 

the financial statements to be audited. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 

and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 

On behalf of the board
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland Society Limited “the Society”, which 

comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, 

the Balance sheet, the Statement of changes in equity 

and the Statement of cash flows for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2022, and the related notes to the 

financial statements, including the summary of significant 

accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in the preparation of the financial 

statements is Irish law and FRS 102 “The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland” (Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Co-operative Housing Ireland Society 

Limited’s financial statements:

• give a true and fair view in accordance with Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland

• of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the 

society as at 31 December 2022 and of its

• financial performance and cash flows for the financial 

year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Industrial and Provident Societies 

Acts 1893 to 2021.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing  (‘ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit 

of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 

independent of the society in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard 

for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish Auditing and 

Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and the ethical 

pronouncements established by Chartered Accountants 

Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in 

the circumstances for the entity. We have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence  

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide  

a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 

that the Board of Management’s use of going concern basis 

of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 

is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 

identified any material uncertainties relating to events 

or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 

significant doubt on the society’s ability to continue as a 

going concern for a period of at least twelve months from 

the date when the financial statements are authorised for 

issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Board of 

Management’s with respect to going concern are described 

in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The Board of Management is responsible for the other 

information. Our opinion on the financial statements does 

not cover the other information and, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies in the 

financial statements, we are required to determine whether 

there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 

or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited
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Opinions on other matters prescribed  
by the Industrial and Provide Societies 
Act 1893  
As required by Section 13(2) of the Industrial and Provident 

Societies Act 1893 we examined the balance sheets 

showing the receipts and expenditure, funds and effects of 

the Society, and verified the same with the books, deeds, 

documents, accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and 

found them to be correct, duly vouched, and in accordance 

with law. 

Responsibilities of the Board of 
Management and those charged with 
governance for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Board of Management 

responsibilities statement, are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements which give a true 

and fair view in accordance with Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice in Ireland, including FRS 102, and 

for such internal control as they determine necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of 

Management are responsible for assessing the society’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless Board of 

Management either intends to dissolve the society or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 

overseeing the society’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes their 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the 

auditor will exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. The auditor 

will also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for their opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the society’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the Board of Management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 

Management use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If they 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, they are 

required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify their opinion. Their 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the society to cease to 

continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 

of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves a true and fair view.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited
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The auditor communicates with those charged with 

governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

may be identified during the audit.

The purpose of our audit work and to 
whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the society’s members, as a 

body, in accordance with sections 13 and 14 of the Industrial 

and Provident Societies Acts 1893‑2021. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the society’s 

members those matters we are required to state to them 

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 

fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the society and the 

society’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 

report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Michael Nolan

for and on behalf of

Grant Thornton

Chartered Accountants 

Statutory Audit Firm 

Cork

Date: 
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Note 2022 2021

€ €

Income

Availability income and management & maintenance 

allowances
27,914,238 20,027,449

Rental income and service charges  5 13,377,695 10,916,906

Capital subsidies amortised 7,335,442 7,306,424

Revenue based grants  6 677,592 986,572

Other income 7 1,150,502 137,975

Total income 50,455,469 39,375,326

Housing and community services 8 (17,064,529) (13,325,578)

Depreciation (15,661,344) (12,667,926)

Operating surplus 17,729,596 13,381,822

Interest payable and similar charges 10 (10,249,995) (7,447,262)

Surplus before taxation 7,479,601 5,934,560

Taxation - -

Surplus for the financial year 7,479,601 5,934,560

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2022 or 2021 other than those included 

in the statement of comprehensive income. 

There was no other comprehensive income for 2022 (2021: €Nil).

All amounts relate to continuing operations.
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Balance sheet
as at 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

€ €

Fixed assets

Co-operative housing properties 12 692,487,319 549,356,927

Other tangible assets 12 893,546 893,244

Investments 13 2,579 2,579

693,383,444 550,252,750

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 14 1,603,991 1,751,239

Cash at bank and in hand 15 24,916,372 17,906,030

26,520,363 19,657,269

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (15,420,085) (11,107,837)

Net current assets 11,100,278 8,549,432

Total assets less current liabilities 704,483,722 558,802,182

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (642,304,299) (504,102,360)

Net assets 62,179,423 54,699,822

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital presented as equity 19 375 375

Designated reserve 20 5,534,600 3,345,250

Revenue reserve 20 56,644,448 51,354,197

Shareholders’ funds 62,179,423 54,699,822

The notes on pages 82 to 94 form part of these financial statements.
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Called up 

Share Capital

Designated 

Reserve

Revenue 

Reserve 

Total 

Equity

€ € € €

At 1 January 2022 375 3,345,250 51,354,197 54,699,822

Comprehensive income for the 

financial year

Surplus for the financial year - - 7,479,601 7,479,601

Other comprehensive income - 2,189,350 (2,189,350) -

At 31 December 2022 375 5,534,600 56,644,448 62,179,423

Statement of changes in equity 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of changes in equity 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Called up 

Share Capital

Designated 

Reserve

Revenue 

Reserve 

Total 

Equity

€ € € €

At 1 January 2021 375 2,599,000 46,165,887 48,765,262

Comprehensive income for the 

financial year

Surplus for the financial year - - 5,934,560 5,934,560

Other comprehensive income - 746,250 (746,250) -

At 31 December 2022 375 3,345,250 51,354,197 54,699,822

The notes on pages 82 to 94 form part of these financial statements.

The notes on pages 82 to 94 form part of these financial statements.
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2022 2021

€ €

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 7,479,601 5,934,560

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of capital loan subsidies and grants (7,335,442) (7,306,424)

Depreciation of tangible assets 15,661,344 12,667,926

Interest payable and similar charges 10,249,995 7,447,262

Interest Paid (7,660,282) (5,761,923)

Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 147,248 (513,452)

Increase in creditors 245,015 563,399

Net cash generated from operating activities 18,787,479 13,031,348

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditure (158,792,038) (157,781,770)

Net cash from investing activities (158,792,038) (157,781,770)

Cash flows from financing activities

Loans drawn down 154,459,030 152,877,166

Repayment of loans (10,037,004) (5,506,664)

Grants received 1,497,075 1,750,469

Fixed rate loan realised gain 595,900                    -                    

IIP funds received 499,900 300,100

Net cash used in financing activities 147,014,901 149,421,071

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7,010,342 4,670,649

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 17,906,030 13,235,381

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 24,916,372 17,906,030

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 

comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 24,916,372 17,906,030

24,916,372 17,906,030

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 82 to 94 form part of these financial statements.
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Analysis of Net Debt 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 

2022

Cash 

Flows 

At 31 December 

2022

€ € €

Cash at bank and in hand 17,906,030 7,010,342 24,916,372

Debt due after 1 year (411,288,051) (141,889,846) (553,177,897)

Debt due within 1 year (8,968,641) (4,067,235) (13,035,876)

(402,350,662) (138,946,739) (541,297,401)

The notes on pages 82 to 94 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 - General information

Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited (“the 

Society”) is a Society limited by shares and incorporated 

and domiciled in Ireland. The Society is incorporated 

under the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1893 - 

2021.

2 - Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102, the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in  the UK and 

the Republic of Ireland and Irish statute comprising of 

the Companies Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance 

with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management 

to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s 

accounting policies (see note 3).

The following principal accounting policies have been 

applied:

2.2 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 

and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is 

measured as the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added 

tax and other sales taxes. The following criteria must also 

be met before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is 

recognised in the period in which the services are 

provided in accordance with the stage of completion 

of the contract when all of the following conditions are 

satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the Company will receive the 

consideration due under the contract;

• the stage of completion of the contract at the end of 

the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred and the costs to complete the 

contract can be measured reliably.

2.3 Government grants

Government grants are included within accruals and 

deferred income in the balance sheet and credited to the 

profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of 

the assets to which they relate or in periods in which the 

related costs are incurred.

2.4 Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the 

term of the debt using the effective interest method so 

that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the 

carrying amount. Issue costs are initially recognised as 

a reduction in the proceeds of the associated capital 

instrument.

2.5 Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

financial year in which they are incurred.

2.6 Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for 

its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension 

plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been 

paid, the Company has no further payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in profit 

or loss when they fall due. Amounts not paid are shown 

in accruals as a liability in the Balance Sheet. The assets 

of the plan are held separately from the Company in 

independently administered funds.

2.7 Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at 

historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the 

asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 

be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of 

assets less their residual value over their estimated 

useful lives, using the straight-line method.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Co-operative Housing Ireland Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022

82



Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Housing  -  2% straight line 

Motor vehicles -  20% straight line 

Office buildings  -  2% straight line 

Fixtures & fittings  -  14.33 - 33% straight line 

Computer equipment -  14.33 - 33% straight line 

Housing in course of    

construction or planning - No depreciation

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation 

methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if 

appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant 

change since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 

comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 

are recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 Valuation of investments

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less 

accumulated impairment.

Investments in unlisted Company shares, whose market 

value can be reliably determined, are remeasured 

to market value at each balance sheet date. Gains 

and losses on remeasurement are recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period. 

Where market value cannot be reliably determined, such 

investments are stated at historic cost less impairment.

Investments in listed company shares are remeasured 

to market value at each balance sheet date. Gains and 

losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss 

for the period.

2.9 Debtors

Short-term debtors are measured at transaction price, 

less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured 

initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 

measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with 

financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice 

of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly 

liquid investments that mature in no more than three 

months from the date of acquisition and that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 

risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 

equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 

Company’s cash management.

2.11 Creditors

Short-term creditors are measured at the transaction 

price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are 

measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, 

and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method.

2.12 Financial instruments

The Company only enters into basic financial instrument 

transactions that result in the recognition of financial 

assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and 

creditors, loans from banks and other third parties, loans 

to related parties and investments in ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable 

or receivable within one year), including loans and 

other accounts receivable and payable, are initially 

measured at present value of the future cash flows 

and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or 

receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and 

creditors, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the 

undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration 

expected to be paid or received. However, if the 

arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a 

financing transaction, like the payment of a trade debt 

deferred beyond normal business terms or in case of 

an out-right short-term loan that is not at market rate, 

the financial asset or liability is measured, initially at 

the present value of future cash flows discounted at a 

market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument and 

subsequently at amortised cost, unless it qualifies as a 

loan from a director in the case of a small company, or a 

public benefit entity concessionary loan.
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Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for 

objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 

interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 

current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

3 - Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Preparation of financial statements requires management to make significant judgements and estimates. The items 

in the financial statements where key judgements and estimates have been made include:  

Useful life of depreciable assets 

The Board of Management is required to determine an appropriate period for the estimated useful lives of the 

tangible asset balance. In determining these useful lives, management consider patterns of consumption, physical 

condition and expected economic utilisation of the assets. Changes in the estimated useful life of tangible fixed 

assets could have a significant impact on the annual depreciation charge.  

Allowance for bad debts arising on rental income  

The Board of Management is required to annually estimate a bad debt provision for rental amounts due but not 

received at the balance sheet date. As at 31 December 2022, the Board of Management has determined that no 

material bad debt provision is required based on the Society’s experience of bad debts incurred to date and the best 

available facts and circumstances.

3 - Turnover

An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

All turnover arose in Ireland.

2022 2021

€ €

Availability income 27,266,281 19,379,575

Management and maintenance allowances 647,957 647,874

Rental income and service charges 13,377,695 10,916,906

Capital subsidies amortised 7,335,442 7,306,424

Revenue based grants (Note 6) 677,592 986,572

Other income (Note 7) 1,150,502 137,975

50,455,469 39,375,326
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5  - Rental income and other charges to tenants 2022 2021

€ €

Rental income 12,979,462 10,538,567

Service charges and other charges to tenants 398,233 378,339

13,377,695 10,916,906

6  - Revenue based grants 2022 2021

€ €

DCYA – POBAL CSS scheme 1 42,866 129,277

Childcare government wage subsidy scheme 10,661 192,601

DCYA –ECCE grant  97,250 231,082

Other childcare grants  65,442 69,580

DCYA- POBAL NCS scheme  442,533 309,590

DCYA – CDI grant   - 35,602

DoHPLG – Social Partnership Funding  18,840 18,840

677,592 986,572

7 - Other income 2022 2021

€ €

Childcare fee income 117,051 119,883

Leasehold income 19,200 6,400

Realised gain on financing (a) 595,900 -

Assets transferred from other charity (b) 371,694 -

Housing Finance Agency - Social Investment Fund 27,295 -

Other 19,362 11,692

1,150,502 137,975

(a) This represents a realised gain on a Fixed Rate loan break with Bank of Ireland.   

(b) This represents assets transferred from Munster Co-op Housing Limited CHY 5421R and treated  

as a donation gain in CHI.
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8 - Housing and community services 2022 2021

€ €

Staff costs 5,488,346 4,576,780

Housing management, support, repairs and maintenance costs 7,918,568 5,247,780

Operating lease payments 2,756,662 2,663,932

Insurance costs 450,305 360,641

Legal and professional fees 357,557 350,683

Internal audit fees 6,150 22,140

Sundry expenses 52,318 69,031

Auditors’ remuneration 34,623 34,591

17,064,529 13,325,578 

Included in sundry expenses is an amount of €10,000 representing a donation made directly to Co-op Ukraine 

under the auspices of the International Cooperative Alliance. The donation will be used to help restore 

infrastructure facilities and support the humanitarian effort among the cooperative community of Ukraine. Other 

donations made in 2022 included €450 to the Cork Student Housing Co-operative and €450 to Belfast Student 

Housing Co-operative to help fund their attendance to the European Student-Led Housing Symposium. CHI 

also donated €500 to Unicef Ireland, €500 to Dublin Simon Community and €500 to the Childrens Medical and 

Research Foundation in 2022. 

   

9 - Employees

2022 2021

€ €

Wages and salaries 4,748,040 3,911,703

Social insurance costs 494,928 421,896

Cost of defined pension contribution scheme 220,838 210,585

Temporary staff costs 24,541 32,596

5,488,347 4,576,780

 

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €NIL  (2021 - €NIL).
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The average monthly number of employees, including the board 

members, during the financial year was as follows:

2022 2021

Employees 99 93

A total of 22 employees (2021: 18) had an annual salary  

in excess of €60,000 as follows:

2022 2021

Number of

employees

Number of

employees

€60,001 - €70,000 12 9

€70,001 - €80,000 4 4

€80,001 – €90,000 1 1

€90,001 – €100,000 1 1

Over €100,000 4 3

Amounts shown in the table above includes basic salary and excludes benefits in kind and pension contributions. For 

the purposes of classifying individuals within the band’s remuneration, amounts have been annualised as though all 

relevant individuals were in employment for 12 months.

Total remuneration of key management personnel in the year amounted to €634,012 (2021: €620,238) which included 

Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration amounting to €140,055 (2021: €134,464) in the year, inclusive of benefits in kind.

Pension costs

The Society operates a defined contribution scheme which matches employees’ contributions to a maximum of 8% 

of annual salary.  The pension expense of €220,838 during the current year (2021: €210,585) represents contributions 

made by the Society to the fund. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Society in an 

independently administered fund.  Amounts payable to the scheme at year end totalled to €Nil (2021: €Nil).

10 - Interest payable and similar charges 2022 2021

€ €

Interest payable to credit institutions 10,249,995 7,447,262

10,249,995 7,447,262

 

 11 - Taxation

The Society has been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue Commissioners and as a consequence  

is not subject to corporation tax.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

The net book value of land and buildings may be further analysed as follows:

The net book value of assets transferred from Munster Co-op Housing Society Ltd. Charity Registered no. 5421R  

to CHI was €1,265,689 as reflected in the table above. 

The corresponding CLSS loan balance with a value of €893,995 was also transferred to CHI, generating a donation 

gain for CHI in 2022 of €371,694 as referenced in Note 7. 

The total balance of housing, and land and housing in the course of planning or construction which forms part  

of the Co-operative Housing Properties is €692,487,319 (2021: €549,356,927). 

Office buildings, equipment and fittings and motor vehicles totalling to €893,546 (2021: €893,244) are fixed assets  

of the Society which do not form part of the Co-operative Housing stock.

12 - Tangible fixed assets

Housing 
€

Housing 
in course of 

construction 
or planning 

€

Office 
buildings  

€

Fixtures & 
fittings 

€

Motor 
vehicles

€

Computer 
Equipment
€

Total 
€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 617,419,714 9,578,344 383,959 859,442 291,901 876,690 629,410,050

Additions 155,868,796 1,462,042 83,833 2,875 - 114,477 157,532,023

Transfer of assets from  
Munster Co-op

1,265,689 - - - - - 1,265,689

Disposals - - - (422) (31,750) (3,646) (35,818)

Transfers between classes 512,313 (514,554) 2,241 - - - - 

At 31 December 2022 775,066,512 10,525,83 470,033 861,895 260,151 987,521 788,171,944

Depreciation       

At 1 January 2022 77,641,131 - 22,113 640,928 246,171 609,536 79,159,879

Charge for the financial year 15,463,894 - 9,395 4,537 27,948 155,570 15,661,344

Disposals - - - (169) (27,787) (2,188) (30,144)

At 31 December 2022 93,105,025 - 31,508 645,296 246,332 762,918 94,791,079

Net book value

At 31 December 2022 681,961,487 10,525,832 438,525 216,599 13,819 224,603 693,380,865

At 31 December 2021 539,778,583 9,578,344 361,846 218,514 45,730 267,154 550,250,171
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13 - Financial assets Other 

fixed asset 

investments

€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 2,579

At 31 December 2022 2,579 

14 - Debtors 2022 2021

€ €

Trade debtors 396,300 305,543

Service income charges due 115,231 102,295

Other debtors 546,699 674,793

Prepayments 407,641 408,120

Accrued income 138,120 260,488

1,603,991 1,751,239

All debtors are due within one year.

  

15 - Cash and cash equivalents 2022 2021

€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 24,916,372 17,906,030

24,916,372 17,906,030
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 2022 2021

€ €

Bank loans 13,035,876 8,968,641

Trade creditors 576,731 368,321

Taxation and social insurance 238,107 219,815

Other creditors 72,481 57,337

Accruals 567,808 696,950

Deferred income 929,082 796,773

15,420,085 11,107,837

Other taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI 136,228 117,291

RCT 10,412 10,292

VAT 91,467 92,232

238,107 219,815

17 - Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 2022 2021

€ €

Bank loans 388,876,143 299,174,614

Local authority financial assistance 243,438,850 197,426,826

Deferred income - Immigrant Investor Programme (IIP) 784,000 300,100

Deferred income - capital grants 9,205,306 7,200,820

642,304,299 504,102,360
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Local authority financial assistance

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Society’s land and housing properties. No capital or interest 

repayments are required to be made on the above loans provided that the Society continues to comply with certain 

specific requirements of the local authorities with regard to the properties for which housing loans have been 

provided.

The local authority financial assistance balance is broken down as follows:

2022 2021

€ €

Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme (“CLSS”) and Capital Assistance 

Scheme (“CAS”) financing (a)
79,137,096 85,313,389

Capital Advance Leasing Facility (“CALF”) financing (b) 164,301,754 112,113,437

243,438,850 197,426,826

 

  

(a) Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme financing

The capital mortgage repayments and associated interest arising on the loans are settled on the Society’s behalf 

by way of a subsidy. The Society does not charge the interest accruing on the loans to its income and expenditure 

account as the cost is met through the subsidy scheme. The interest expense accruing on the loans for the current 

year was €1,698,692 (2021: €1,663,545). Amounts drawn down under the scheme in the current year were €Nil (2021: 

€Nil). The Society amortises the capital balance to its income and expenditure account over 30 years based on the 

superior loan agreements between the Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and the local authorities. The local authorities 

have secured mortgages on CHI housing properties ranging in periods from 20 to 30 years.

(b) Capital Advance Leasing Financing

Amounts drawn down under the Capital Advance Leasing Financing scheme are repayable at the end of 25 years 

from the date of drawdown, subject to the Society complying with other terms and conditions. Interest accrues at a 

rate of 2% per annum and this has been charged to the Society’s income and expenditure account.

Of the total bank loans outstanding, €355,997,866 (2021: €260,397,279) relates to loans from the Housing Finance 

Agency.

Security

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over units at Auburn Lodge, Killiney, Co. Dublin.    

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over all units in Rathnew, Wicklow.    

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over all units in, Loughlion, Kildare.   

The Housing Finance Agency holds a charge over all properties financed by it. 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Immigrant Investor Programme (IIP)  

The Immigrant Investor Programme (IIP) is a pathway for non-EEA nationals to secure immigration permission 

to Ireland on the basis of long-term investment of a sum of money in a project that has been approved for that 

purpose by the Department of Justice and other Government stakeholders. 

The Immigrant Investor Programme (IIP) was introduced by the Irish Government in 2012 to encourage inward 

investment for the creation of business and employment opportunities in the State. The IIP is designed to 

encourage investors and business professionals from outside the European Economic Area (EEA) to avail of 

opportunities of investing and locating their business interests in Ireland and acquire a secure residency status in 

Ireland. Applications are determined by an Evaluation Committee, composed of senior civil and public servants 

from relevant Irish Government Departments and Agencies.  

Under the IIP, investors may opt to undertake an Endowment investment.  

An endowment is classified as a philanthropic contribution to an approved project with a clear public benefit. 

Investors will receive no financial return or recoupment of the principal.  

During 2021, the IIP Evaluation Committee approved CHI’s ‘Improving Warmth & Wellbeing Project’ as an 

appropriate project meeting the criteria for endowment under the IIP Scheme.  

Investment applicants are subject to enhanced levels of due diligence processes in respect of anti-money 

laundering, Know Your Client, Politically Exposed Persons and sanction checks conducted by the Department/

Irish Naturalisation and Immigration Service (INIS).  

During 2022, CHI received endowment funding of €499,900 (2021: €300,100) pursuant to the IIP programme.   

CHI applies the endowment funds received towards the costs of the ‘Improving Warm & Wellbeing Project’. The 

goal of this project is to deliver component replacement and high-quality energy upgrades at specific social 

housing schemes located in the inner Dublin city area.  

CHI will also avail of SEAI part funding, under the National Home Retro Fit Scheme, for certain eligible costs of 

these works.   

CHI incurred third party facilitation and advisory fees to acquire the IIP endowment funding received.   

Since year end, the Minister for Justice and For Higher and Further Education, Simon Harris TD, announced the 

closure of the IIP including the Endowment Investment option with effect from 15th February 2023. The proposed 

closure of the IIP will not affect existing projects already approved under the programme. Existing approved 

projects will also continue to be able to source any new investors required to complete the funding of projects 

already approved. All existing (approved) projects will continue to be monitored by the Department of Justice in 

relation to delivery of the project and for compliance purposes.
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18 - Loans

Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2022 2021

€ €

Amounts due within one year

Bank loans 13,035,876 8,968,641

13,035,876 8,968,641

Amounts due within one to two years

Bank loans 13,561,453 9,901,544

13,561,453 9,901,544

Amounts due two to five years

Bank loans 43,425,757 31,878,789

43,425,757 31,878,789

Amounts due greater than five years

Bank loans 331,888,933 257,394,281

  331,888,933 257,394,281

 401,912,019 308,143,255

19 - Share capital

2022 2021

€ €

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid

375 (2021 - 375) Ordinary Shares shares of €1.00 each 375 375
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20 - Reserves

Designated reserves

The designated reserve has been created for future investment in stock Condition or major repairs expenditure. 

The Society retain a level of designated reserves in cash backed form. The designated reserves are sufficient to 

meeting as a minimum the following year’s budgeted stock condition or major repairs. On an ongoing basis the 

Board aims to generate a surplus on operations which will allow for augmentation of the CHI designated reserves.

Revenue reserve

The Society retain a level of revenue reserves which reflects its needs at the current time and in the foreseeable 

future. The reserves are sufficient to meeting, as a minimum, the running costs for a period of 12 months net of 

contractually committed State backed P&A income. Annually the Board reviews the adequacy of the amount and 

period amending it, where necessary, to reflect changing needs.

  

21 - Capital commitments

At 31 December 2022 the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2022 2021

€ €

Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 142,473,436 153,898,340

Committed to but not contracted or provided for in these financial 

statements
34,457,568 15,353,606

176,931,004 169,251,946

22 - Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December 2022 the Company had future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating  

leases for each of the following periods:

2022 2021

€ €

Not later than 1 year 2,942,637 2,848,406

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 11,770,549 11,393,614

Later than 5 years 28,088,391 30,082,215

42,801,577 44,324,235

23 - Approval of financial statements

The Board members approved these financial statements for issue on 16 May 2023
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Glossary of Financial Terms 

Term  Definition

Affordable Housing  A term for social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible 

households whose needs are not met by the market.

AHB Approved Housing Body

Amortisation An accounting term for the practice of spreading the repayment of a loan or grant benefit over 

a specific time frame.

Capital Advance An upfront typically subordinated loan provided by the Local Authority to the AHB for up to 

Leasing Facility (CALF) 30% of the social housing unit’s cost of acquisition/construction.

Term  Definition 

Capital Loans and In the past, Ireland’s social housing was financed entirely by the Capital Loans and Subsidy 

Subsidy Scheme (CLSS)  Scheme (CLSS) which are described in the financial statements as Local Authority Financial 

 Assistance. These loans provided up to 100% of the cost of acquisition or building of social 

 housing units. This form of loan remained payable in full for the life of the loans but on 

 maturity of the loans, provided certain conditions are met e.g. the accommodation continues 

 to be let to eligible categories of persons and is properly maintained, the loans and interest 

 (where applicable, typically the interest rate is zero) were relieved in full. Post the economic 

 crisis, this model of funding the full cost of new social housing through expanding the 

 government balance sheet was no longer sustainable.

Debt Service Cover  Earnings (EBITDA) as a percentage of Interest and Capital Repayments. 

Depreciation An accounting term for the allocation or write off of an asset over its useful life to show how 

much of an asset’s value has been used up.

Differential Rent  This is the affordable rent paid directly by the tenant member to the AHB. Indicatively, the 

differential rent is equal to 15% of the tenant members earnings.
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Term  Definition 

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation.

EBITDA Margin  EBITDA expressed as per centage of Total Income (Less Amortisation).

Gearing Ratio Loans expressed as a percentage of the Historic Cost of Properties 

HFA  Housing Finance Agency

Housing Alliance  A collaboration of six of Ireland’s largest AHBs : Circle Voluntary Housing, Cluid Housing, Co-

operative Housing Ireland, Oaklee Housing, Respond and Tuath Housing.

Liquidity Ratio  Debtors plus Cash expressed as a percentage of current Liabilities. 

Payment & Availability An Agreement between made between the Local Authority and the AHB where the Loca 

Agreement (P&A) Authority undertakes to make an annual payment to the AHB for making the housing units 

 available for social housing tenants from the Local Authority social housing list.

Stock Condition Survey reports providing condition survey of the properties under AHB ownership, furnishing 

essential information as to their state of repair and allowing for the planning of any future 

maintenance and investment requirements. Leasehold interests may also form part of the 

stock condition surveys. This not only helps organisations to identify any major defects that 

could be harmful to residents or result in long-term damage to the building, but also assists 

with the general maintenance of their properties to a good standard on a day to day basis.

These definitions are intended to help the reader and accordingly do not purport to be legal interpretations.
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